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Boise Cascade Company
1111 West Jefferson Street, Suite 300
Boise, ID 83702-5389

NOTICE OF OUR ANNUAL MEETING
OF SHAREHOLDERS

To be held April 27, 2016
To Our Shareholders:

I am pleased to invite you to attend our Annual Meeting of Shareholders (Annual Meeting) of Boise Cascade
Company (Company), a Delaware Corporation. The Annual Meeting will be held at the Payette Meeting Room in the
Hampton Inn & Suites, 495 S. Capitol Boulevard, Boise, Idaho 83702, at 9:30 a.m. Mountain Daylight Time on April
27, 2016. The purposes of the Annual Meeting, as more fully described in the proxy statement accompanying this
notice, are:

1.To elect three members to serve as Class III directors to our board of directors;

2.To hold an advisory vote on the compensation of our named executive officers (say-on-pay);
To amend Article Six, Section 4 of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation to change the election standard for
"directors running unopposed from a plurality to a majority of shareholder votes;

4.To approve the 2016 Boise Cascade Omnibus Incentive Plan;
To ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year
“ending December 31, 2016; and

6.To conduct other business as appropriate.

Shareholders owning our common stock at the close of business on March 7, 2016 (the Record Date) are entitled to
vote at the Annual Meeting in person or by returning the proxy card provided with this proxy statement. Each
non-treasury share is entitled to one vote on each matter to be voted upon at the Annual Meeting. If you plan to attend
the Annual Meeting in person, please bring photo identification, as well as your Notice of Annual Meeting of
Shareholders; your brokerage statement reflecting your ownership of Boise Cascade common stock; a copy of the
voting instructions card provided by your broker, trustee or nominee; or similar evidence of share ownership as of the
Record Date.

Enclosed with this Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders is a proxy statement, related proxy card with a return
envelope and our 2015 annual report on Form 10-K. The 2015 annual report on Form 10-K contains financial and
other information that is not incorporated into the proxy statement and is not deemed to be a part of the proxy
soliciting material.

The attached proxy statement provides a summary of the items to be voted on at the Annual Meeting and then a more
detailed look at our board of directors and executive compensation. Please consider the issues presented in the proxy
and vote your shares as promptly as possible.

Thank you for being a shareholder.

John T. Sahlberg

Senior Vice President, Human Resources, General Counsel and Secretary
Boise, Idaho
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BOISE CASCADE COMPANY
NOTICE OF 2016 ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

9:30 a.m. Mountain Daylight Time

Time and Date: Wednesday, April 27, 2016

Hampton Inn & Suites, Payette Meeting Room
Place: 495 South Capitol Boulevard
Boise, Idaho 83702

March 7, 2016
Record Date: We will begin mailing our proxy statement, 2015 annual report on Form 10-K and a
proxy card to shareholders of record on or about March 28, 2016.

Please consider the issues presented in this proxy statement, and vote your shares as promptly as possible. For your
convenience, we have provided a summary of the items to be voted on at the Annual Meeting and a summary of the
governance and compensation changes made in 2015.

Thank you,

John T. Sahlberg

Senior Vice President, Human Resources, General Counsel and Secretary
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PROXY STATEMENT SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this proxy statement. This summary does not contain all
of the information you should consider, and you should read the entire proxy statement carefully before voting. As
used in this proxy statement, unless the context otherwise indicates, the references to "Boise Cascade," the
"Company," "we," "our," or "us" refer to Boise Cascade Company.

Our proxy statement and 2015 annual report on Form 10-K are also available on our website at www.bc.com by

selecting Investors, then Annual Shareholders' Meeting.

. . Board Vote
Meeting Agenda and Voting Matters Recommendation
Election of three directors to hold office for a three-year term expiring at the annual meetin FOR
019 Y piring £ EACH DIRECTOR

' NOMINEE
Advisory vote on our executive compensation program. FOR
Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation to change the election requirement for FOR
directors running unopposed from a plurality to a majority.

Approval of the 2016 Boise Cascade Omnibus Incentive Plan. FOR
Ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public FOR

accounting firm for 2016.

Transaction of other business properly presented at the meeting.

All shareholders as of the Record Date, or their duly appointed proxies, may attend the meeting upon presentation of
proper identification. Registration and seating will begin at 11:00 a.m. Eastern Time (9:00 a.m. Mountain Daylight
Time). Cameras, recording devices and other electronic devices will not be permitted at the meeting. You may obtain
directions to the meeting place by calling our corporate offices at (208) 384-6161.

A quorum is necessary to hold a valid meeting. A quorum will exist if shareholders holding a majority of the shares of
our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting are present in person or by proxy.
Stockholders have no right to cumulative voting as to any matter, including the election of directors. Abstentions and
broker nonvotes will be treated as shares of common stock that are present and entitled to vote for purposes of
determining the presence of a quorum. A broker nonvote occurs when a broker does not have discretionary voting
power for that particular item and has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner or when it has
discretionary power but declines to use it. Brokers do not have discretionary voting power on nonroutine matters.
Proposal No. 5, the ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm for 2016, is
the only routine matter for consideration at the annual meeting. The following table illustrates how abstentions and
broker nonvotes will be counted.

12



Proposal No. 1
Election of Directors

Proposal No. 2

Advisory Approval of Our
Executive Compensation
Program

Proposal No. 3

Adoption of Majority Vote for

Unopposed Directors

Proposal No. 4

Approval of the 2016 Boise
Cascade Omnibus Incentive
Plan

Proposal No. 5
Ratification of Independent
Accountant
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If you do not provide voting instructions, your broker may not vote on this matter.

The three director nominees who receive the greatest number of votes will be elected
as directors. Abstentions and broker nonvotes will have no effect on the outcome of
this proposal.

If you do not provide voting instructions, your broker may not vote on this matter.

The advisory vote approving our executive compensation program will be determined
by the affirmative vote of a majority of shares present or represented by proxy and
entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions will have the same effect as voting
against this proposal. Broker nonvotes will have no effect on the outcome of this
proposal.

Although this advisory vote is nonbinding, the compensation committee and our board
of directors will review the results of the vote. The compensation committee will
consider our shareholders' preferences and take them into account in making future
determinations concerning our executive compensation program.

If you do not provide voting instructions, your broker may not vote on this matter.

The vote to amend our Certificate of Incorporation to require a majority vote for
unopposed directors will be determined by the affirmative vote of at least 66-2/3% of
shares outstanding. Because this proposal requires passage by 66-2/3% of the shares
outstanding, abstentions and broker nonvotes will have the same effect as voting
against the proposal.

If you do not provide voting instructions, your broker may not vote on this matter.

Approval of the 2016 Omnibus Plan will be determined by the affirmative vote of the
majority of the shares present or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the
annual meeting. Abstentions (including broker nonvotes) will have the same effect as
voting against this proposal.

If you do not provide voting instructions, your broker is permitted to exercise its
discretion in voting.

The proposal to appoint KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting
firm for 2016 will be ratified by the affirmative vote of a majority of shares present or
represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions
(including broker nonvotes) will have the same effect as voting against this proposal.

13
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Board Nominees

Our board of directors consists of three staggered classes of directors, designated as Class I, Class II, and Class III.
The three members of Class III, Steven C. Cooper, Karen E. Gowland and David H. Hannah, are standing for election
as directors at the Annual Meeting, to hold office for three-year terms expiring in 2019. The following table provides
summary information about each of these director-nominees. During 2015, Ms.Gowland and Mr. Hannah were
directors for the entire year and attended 100% of the board and committee meetings on which they served. Mr.
Cooper was elected to the board on February 25, 2015 and, since his election, attended 100% of the board and
committee meetings to which he was assigned. Our board of directors recommends a FOR vote for each director
because it believes each is qualified to serve as a director and has made and will continue to make positive
contributions to the board.

Committee Memberships Other
Director Name Director Occupation Independent Nominating Public
and Age Since Audit Compensation & Corporate  Company

Governance Boards

President and

Steven C. Cooper201 5 CEO TrueBlue, X X TrueBlue,
Age - 53 Inc.
Inc.
Retired Senior
Karen E. Vice President,
Gowland General Counsel
Age - 57 2014 and Corporate X X
Secretary, Boise
Inc.
Executive Reliance
David H. Hannah Chairman Steel and
Age - 64 2014 Reliance Steel & X X X Aluminum
Aluminum Co. Co.

Executive Compensation Advisory Approval

We are asking shareholders to approve, on a nonbinding advisory basis, the overall executive compensation policies
and procedures employed by us for our named executive officers. Our board of directors recommends a FOR vote
because it believes our compensation policies and practices support our goal of aligning our officers' pay with
Company performance and, thus, shareholder interests.

Executive Compensation Elements

We target annual base pay at the 50th percentile of the comparable market compensation data. We believe this enables
us to effectively attract and retain talented and experienced officers to manage and lead the Company.

We provide at-risk pay opportunities in the form of short- and long-term incentives. These compensation elements are
also structured so target opportunities are set at or near the 50th percentile of the market. These short- and long-term
incentives comprise a significant portion of each officer's total compensation opportunity since they are designed to
motivate and reward our officers for growing the Company and maximizing shareholder value.

14
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Long-term performance is the most important measure of our success because we manage our operations and business
affairs for the long-term benefit of our shareholders. For 2015, our named executive officers received long-term
equity incentive compensation opportunities in a combination of Performance Stock Units (PSUs) and Restricted
Stock Units (RSUs).

Our annual incentive compensation opportunities are tied to achievement of corporate and, in some cases, divisional
financial goals.

We provide limited perquisites, including only those benefits that are consistent with typical market practice.
Key Compensation Activities by the Compensation Committee
Reviewed the first annual advisory vote regarding our executive compensation program (say-on-pay).

Engaged Frederic Cook & Co. Inc. (Frederic Cook) to assist our compensation committee and our board in a
comprehensive review of our executive compensation.

With the assistance of Frederic Cook, reviewed all components of our executive compensation and made adjustments
in some cases moving our executives from below median to closer to the median.

Are submitting for shareholder approval the 2016 Boise Cascade Omnibus Incentive Plan which includes a
prohibition on repricing stock options without shareholder approval and eliminates liberal share repricing for options.

Adopted a new, long-term incentive plan for our executive officers for 2016 that uses Return on Invested Capital
(ROIC) rather than EBITDA as the new performance measure and moves to a three-year cliff vesting of earned
performance shares rather than pro rata payout over three years.

Adopted as part of our insider-trading policy, a hedging policy that prohibits participants in our long-term incentive
plan, including our officers and directors, from any hedging or monetizing transaction to lock in the value of the
securities.

Eliminated retention award agreements for executive officers. Prior to our 2013 Initial Public Offering and during the
housing crisis, several retirement-eligible executives were given retention award agreements. All of these were paid
out prior to 2015.

Adopted a formal clawback policy. While long-term incentive awards under the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan are
subject to being clawed back, the new formal policy allows the board to claw back both short-term and/or long-term
incentive awards in the future if it finds that the payment was predicated on achieving financial results that were
subsequently subject to a substantial restatement or determines that the employee engaged in intentional misconduct
or malfeasance that substantially caused the restatement and a lower payment would have been made under the
restated results.

Reviewed and confirmed our list of peer companies.

Evaluated the potential risks arising from our compensation policies and practices to ensure they reflect current and
anticipated business conditions and that the performance targets are sufficiently challenging.

4
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2015 Highlights
We entered into an agreement to purchase Georgia-Pacific's engineered lumber business for $215 million. We expect
this acquisition to close in the first half of 2016, subject to receipt of regulatory approval.

We successfully transitioned the leadership roles at the CEO level and at the executive vice president level in our
Wood Products business.

We repurchased 722,911 shares of our stock and now have a total of 4,586,973 treasury shares as of December 31,
2015.

We grew sales to over $3.6 billion. Building Materials Distribution sales increased by over $100 million
year-over-year. Commodity price declines in lumber and plywood of 14% and 7% resulted in a 3% decline in Wood
Products' sales.

We earned net income of $52.2 million and EBITDA® of $158.5 million.
We ended 2015 with liquidity to support continued organic and acquisition growth in 2016.

We successfully transitioned in-house the human resources, information technology and accounting services that had
been a part of our outsourcing agreement with Packaging Corporation of America (PCA).

We accelerated our capital spending. Wood Products completed the Chester #2 dryer and the Elgin log utilization
center and started the Florien #5 dryer project. The Chester and Florien projects are expected to reduce manufacturing
costs and increase internal veneer production for both plywood and engineered wood products.

EBITDA is defined as income before interest (interest expense and interest income), income tax provision
(benefit), and depreciation and amortization and is not required by or presented in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States. Management uses EBITDA to evaluate ongoing

(1)operations and believes it is useful to investors because it enables them to perform meaningful comparisons of past
and present operating results. To reconcile this non-GAAP measure with the most directly comparable GAAP
measure (net income), please refer to page 24 of our 2015 annual report on Form 10-K, Item 6. Selected Financial
Data.

The following table sets forth the 2015 compensation for each of our named executive officers, as determined under
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rules, and highlights that a significant portion (stock awards and
non-equity incentive plan compensation) is considered "at risk." The SEC's calculation of total compensation includes
several items driven by accounting and actuarial assumptions, which are not necessarily reflective of compensation
actually realized by our named executive officers in 2015. For a complete description of our named executive officers
compensation (years 2013-2015), please refer to the Executive Compensation section in this proxy statement.

1

5
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Change in
. Pension
Non—E.qulty Value and
. Stock Incentive o All Other
Name and Earnings Bonus Nonqualified . Total
.. - Awards Plan Compensation
Principal Position  ($) $) . Deferred %
€)) Compensation )
$) Compensahon
( Earnings
&)
Thomas E. Carlile (1$190,385 $— $— $102,808 $5,463 $95,375 $394,031
Chief Executive
Officer
Thomas K. Comick ¢701 923 §1,200475 — 379,038 14,652 58,133 2,376,221
Chief Executive
Officer
& former Chief
Operating
Officer
Wayne M. Rancourt 452,308 366,772 — 183,185 5,940 47,513 1,055,718
Executive Vice
President
Chief Financial
Officer &
Treasurer
Nick Stokes 427,308 366,772 — 310,065 5,033 52,473 1,161,651
Executive Vice
President,
Building Materials
Distribution
Dan Hutchinson 357,692 366,772 48,288 36,216 14,839 32,225 856,032
Executive Vice
President
Wood Products
John T. Sahlberg 404,615 325,974 — 142,020 11,076 41,355 925,040
Senior Vice
President,
Human Resources,
General

Counsel & Secretary
(1)Mr. Carlile served as our CEO until March 6, 2015.
(2)Mr. Corrick became our CEO March 7, 2015, and prior to assuming that role served as chief operating officer.
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Auditors

As a matter of good corporate governance, we are asking our shareholders to ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as
our independent auditor for 2016. Our board of directors recommends a FOR vote for the appointment of KPMG LLP.
INFORMATION ABOUT OUR ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING AND VOTING

Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, and Other Reports and Policies

You may view a complete copy of our proxy statement and 2015 annual report on Form 10-K by visiting our website
at www.bc.com and selecting Investors, and then Annual Shareholders' Meeting.

You may view complete copies of all of our SEC filings, including annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and certain financial information, by visiting our website at www.bc.com

and selecting Investors and then SEC Filings.

6
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Record Date and Voting at Our 2016 Annual Shareholders' Meeting

Shareholders owning our common stock at the close of business on March 7, 2016, (the Record Date), may vote at the
Annual Meeting. On the Record Date, 38,750,173 shares of our common stock were outstanding. Each share is
entitled to one vote on each matter to be voted upon at the Annual Meeting.

All valid proxies properly executed and received by us prior to our Annual Meeting will be voted as you direct. If you
do not specify how you want your shares voted, they will be voted:

FOR the election of the three director nominees;

FOR the nonbinding advisory approval vote of our executive compensation program;

FOR the adoption of majority vote requirement for directors in unopposed elections;

FOR the adoption of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan; and

FOR the ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2016.

Your shares will also be voted on any other matters presented for a vote at the Annual Meeting in accordance with the
judgment of the persons acting under the proxies. You may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time
before the Annual Meeting by submitting a written notice to our corporate secretary, by mailing a later-dated and
properly executed proxy, or by voting in person at the Annual Meeting.

Independent Tabulator

We have appointed Wells Fargo Shareowner Services (Wells Fargo) as our independent tabulator to receive and
tabulate all votes cast at the Annual Meeting. Wells Fargo will determine whether a quorum is present.

Independent Inspector of Election

We have appointed Cydni J. Waldner, of Hawley Troxell Ennis & Hawley LLP, as our independent inspector of
election to certify the vote results.

A quorum is necessary to hold a valid meeting. A quorum will exist if shareholders holding a majority of the shares of
our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting are present in person or by proxy.
Abstentions and broker nonvotes will be treated as shares of stock that are present and entitled to vote for purposes of
determining the presence of a quorum. A broker nonvote occurs when a broker does not have discretionary voting
power for that particular item and has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner. The table set forth
on page 2 of this proxy statement illustrates how abstentions and broker nonvotes will be counted.

Proxy Solicitation

Our board of directors is soliciting your proxy. We do not intend to retain a proxy solicitor; however, our employees
and directors may solicit proxies by mail, telephone, email, or in person. Our employees and directors will not receive
additional compensation for these activities and the entire cost of this solicitation will be borne by us.

7
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Householding of Annual Meeting Materials

Some banks, brokers, and other record holders may be participating in the practice of “householding” proxy statements
and annual reports. This means that only one copy of our Proxy Statement and Annual Report may have been sent to
multiple shareholders in your household. We will promptly deliver a separate copy of these documents to you if you
contact the Broadridge Householding Department at the following address:

Broadridge Householding Department

51 Mercedes Way

Edgewood, NY 11717

Toll-Free Number: 1-800-542-1061

If you want to receive separate copies of our proxy statements and annual reports on Form 10-K in the future, or if you
are receiving multiple copies and would like to receive only one copy for your household, you should contact your
bank, broker, or other record holder, or you may contact the Broadridge Householding Department at the address and
phone number shown.

Shareholder Proposals for Inclusion in Next Year's Proxy Statement

According to SEC rules, to be considered for inclusion in next year's proxy statement, our corporate secretary must
receive shareholder proposals at the address shown below not later than December 28, 2016.

Boise Cascade Company

Attention: Corporate Secretary

1111 West Jefferson Street, Suite 300

Boise, ID 83702

Additionally, our bylaws require that our corporate secretary must receive notice of any nominations for director or
other business a shareholder proposes to bring before our next annual meeting no earlier than December 28, 2016, and
no later than January 27, 2017.

Please refer to Article II, Section 11 of our bylaws for an outline of the information a shareholders' notice must
include regarding director-nominees and other business to be brought before a shareholders' meeting.

You may view a complete copy of our bylaws by visiting our website at www.bc.com and selecting Investors,
Leadership and Governance and then Bylaws.

If You Plan to Attend

If you plan to attend the Annual Meeting in person, please bring photo identification, as well as your Notice of Annual
Meeting of Shareholders; your brokerage statement reflecting your Boise Cascade common stock; a copy of the voting
instruction card provided by your bank, broker, trustee, or nominee; or similar evidence of share ownership as of the
Record Date.
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PROPOSALS TO BE VOTED ON
Proposal No. 1 - Election of Three Directors

Our board of directors consists of three staggered classes of directors, designated as Class I, Class II, and Class III.
The director members of, and the term expiration dates for, each class are:
Class Director Members Term Expiration Date

I Duane C. McDougall 2017 annual shareholders' meeting
Thomas E. Carlile
Kristopher J. Matula

II Thomas K. Corrick 2018 annual shareholders' meeting
Richard H. Fleming
Mack L. Hogans
Christopher J. McGowan

I Karen E. Gowland 2016 annual shareholders' meeting
David H. Hannah
Steven C. Cooper

At each succeeding annual shareholders' meeting, successors to the class of directors whose term expires at that
annual meeting will be elected for a three-year term. Each director will hold office for the term to which he or she is
elected and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death, disqualification,
resignation, or removal.

Nominees

Three nominees, Ms. Gowland and Messrs. Cooper and Hannah, are standing for election as directors at the Annual
Meeting to hold office for three-year terms, expiring in 2019.

Your shares will be voted according to your instructions. If you do not provide voting instructions, your broker may
not vote on this matter. To be elected to our board of directors in 2016, the director-nominees must receive a plurality
of the votes cast by our shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote. (Proposal No. 3 would change
this standard to a majority of votes in unopposed elections starting in 2017.)

The three director-nominees have confirmed their availability for election. If any of the director-nominees become
unavailable to serve as a director for any reason prior to the Annual Meeting, our board of directors may substitute
another person as a director nominee. In that case, your shares will be voted FOR the substitute director nominee.

Additional information follows for the three director-nominees and the directors continuing in office, particularly
concerning their business experience and qualifications, as well as attributes and skills that led our board to conclude
that person should serve as a director of the Company. During the past ten years, none of our directors has been a
party to any legal or bankruptcy proceedings reportable under SEC rules.

Our board of directors unanimously recommends shareholders vote FOR Ms. Gowland and Messrs. Cooper and
Hannabh, our three director nominees.

9
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Nominee Directors
Steven C. Cooper, 53 - Nominee
Mr. Cooper became one of our directors in February 2015 and currently serves as a member of our audit committee.

Business Experience

Mr. Cooper is currently a director and chief executive officer of TrueBlue, Inc., a New York Stock Exchange-listed
company based in Tacoma, Washington. TrueBlue is a global supplier of specialized workforce solutions placing
750,000 people annually in more than 130,000 businesses. TrueBlue has been repeatedly recognized as one of Forbes
Magazine’s “Most Trustworthy Companies” for its solid corporate governance and accounting transparency. Prior to
joining TrueBlue in 1999, Mr. Cooper held various professional positions at Arthur Andersen, Albertsons, and
Deloitte.

Education
B.A. in business administration, Idaho State
University

Current public company or registered investment company directorships, other than Boise Cascade Company
TrueBlue, Inc.

Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Mr. Cooper should serve as a director of the Company
Experience as a chief executive officer and director provides insight on strategic and operational issues and valuable
business knowledge. Also provides strong accounting and financial expertise and experience in workforce
management to our board.

Karen E. Gowland, 57 - Nominee

Ms. Gowland became one of our directors in January 2014 and currently serves as the chair of the compensation
committee and as a member of our corporate governance and nominating committee.

Business Experience

Before her retirement in March 2014, Ms. Gowland was the senior vice president, general counsel and corporate
secretary for Boise Inc. from August 2010 until its acquisition by Packaging Corporation of America in late 2013.
Boise Inc. was a manufacturer of a wide variety of packaging and paper products. From February 2008 to July 2010,
she served as Boise Inc.'s vice president, general counsel and secretary. From October 2004 to February 2008, Ms.
Gowland served as vice president, general counsel and corporate secretary of Boise Cascade, L.L..C. During her 30
years in the forest products industry, Ms. Gowland held various legal and compliance positions, which included over
15 years of experience as a corporate secretary for various public and private entities in the forest products industry.
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Education
B.S. in accounting, University of Idaho

J.D., University of Idaho
Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Ms. Gowland should serve as a director of the Company

Has relevant industry and company experience and provides strong corporate governance and compliance skills to our
board of directors.

David H. Hannah, 64 - Nominee

Mr. Hannah became one of our directors in November 2014 and currently serves as a member of our compensation
and corporate governance and nominating committees.

Business Experience

Mr. Hannah is executive chairman of Reliance Steel & Aluminum Co., a New York Stock Exchange, Fortune 500
company, based in Los Angeles, California. Reliance is the largest operator of metals service centers in North
America, with over 300 locations in 39 states. Reliance also operates in 12 foreign countries. Prior to joining Reliance
in 1981, Mr. Hannah held various professional positions at Ernst & Whinney, a predecessor firm to Ernst & Young,
LLP. Mr. Hannah is a certified public accountant.

Education
B.S. in finance and accounting, University of Southern California

Current public company or registered investment company directorships, other than Boise Cascade Company
Reliance Steel & Aluminum Co.

Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Mr. Hannah should serve as a director of the Company

Experience as a chief executive officer of a major products distribution company provides valuable insight on
operational and industry issues. Also provides strong accounting and financial expertise to our board.
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Directors Continuing in Office
Thomas E. Carlile, 64

Mr. Carlile began serving as board chairman in March 2015 and has been one of our directors since our initial public
offering in February 2013 and was a director of our former parent company from 2009-2013.

Business Experience

Before his retirement in 2015, Mr. Carlile served as the Company’s chief executive officer from 2009 to 2015, and as a
director of Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. from August 2009 until its dissolution in September 2014. He became a
Boise Cascade Company director in February 2013, in connection with our initial public offering, and board chairman
in March 2015. Mr. Carlile previously served as our executive vice president and chief financial officer from February
2008 to August 2009, following the divestiture of our paper and packaging businesses. From October 2004 to January
2008, he served as our senior vice president and chief financial officer.

Education
B.S. in accounting, Boise State University

Stanford Executive Program

Current public company or registered investment company directorships, other than Boise Cascade Company
IDACORP, Inc.

Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Mr. Carlile should serve as a director of the Company
Position as former chief executive officer with 42 years' experience with the Company and its predecessors allows
him to advise the board of directors on operational and industry matters affecting the Company.

Thomas K. Corrick, 60

Mr. Corrick became one of our directors in February 2016.

Business Experience

Mr. Corrick has served as our chief executive officer since March 7, 2015. Prior to that he served in various roles
including as our chief operating officer, our executive vice president of our Wood Products segment, senior vice
president of engineered wood products in our Wood Products segment, and various other management and financial
positions.

Education

B.B.A., Texas Christian University, Fort Worth, Texas

MBA, Texas Christian University, Fort Worth, Texas
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Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Mr. Corrick should serve as a director of the Company
Over 32 years of experience with the Company and its predecessor enables Mr. Corrick to provide valuable insight on
the Company, its culture, and the governance and financial controls in the Company.

As chief executive officer, he is also able to provide operational and financial information important to board
discussions.

Richard H. Fleming, 68

Mr. Fleming became one of our directors in February 2013 in connection with our initial public offering and currently
serves as a member of our audit committee.

Business Experience

Mr. Fleming was the executive vice president and chief financial officer of USG Corporation from 1999 until his
retirement in 2012. USG is a leading manufacturer and distributor of high performance building systems for the
construction and remodeling industries. Prior to joining USG, Mr. Fleming was employed by Masonite Corporation,
which was acquired by USG in 1984. During his 39-year career with Masonite and USG, Mr. Fleming held various
operating and finance positions and was USG's chief financial officer for approximately 18 years.

Education
B.S. in economics, University of the Pacific, Stockton, CA

MBA with finance specialization, Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth College

Current public company or registered investment company directorships, other than Boise Cascade Company
Columbus McKinnon Corporation

Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Mr. Fleming should serve as a director of the Company
Provides strong financial skills to our board of directors and has relevant industry experience.
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Mack L. Hogans, 67

Mr. Hogans became one of our directors in July 2014 and currently serves as the chair of our corporate governance
and nominating committee and as our lead independent director.

Business Experience

Mr. Hogans was senior vice president of corporate affairs with Weyerhaeuser Company until his retirement in 2004.
Weyerhaeuser is one of the world’s largest private owners of timberlands and one of the largest manufacturers of wood
and cellulose fibers products. Mr. Hogans currently operates a consulting services business. Prior to joining
Weyerhaeuser in 1979, Mr. Hogans was employed by the U.S. Forest Service, Maryland National Capital Parks &
Planning Commission, and the National Park Service.

Education

8.S. in forestry and natural resources, University of Michigan

ML.S. in forest resources, University of Washington

Graduate of Stanford University Graduate School of Business Executive Program (SEP)

Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Mr. Hogans should serve as a director of the Company
Has relevant industry experience and provides strong corporate governance and compliance skills to our board of
directors.

Kristopher J. Matula, 53

Mr. Matula became one of our directors in July 2014 and currently serves as a member of our compensation
committee.

Business Experience

Mr. Matula retired from Buckeye Technologies Inc. in 2012, where he served as president and chief operating officer
and a director. He is currently a private consultant. Buckeye, a large, publicly traded producer of cellulose-based
specialty products, was acquired by Georgia-Pacific in 2013. During his career at Buckeye, Mr. Matula also served as
chief financial officer and head of Buckeye’s nonwovens business. Prior to joining Buckeye in 1994, Mr. Matula was
employed by Procter & Gamble Company.

Education

8.S. in mechanical engineering, Purdue University

ML.S. in aerospace engineering, University of Cincinnati

M.B.A. in finance and production, University of Chicago Graduate School of Business

Prior directorships held during past five years at any public company or registered investment company
Buckeye Technologies Inc.
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Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Mr. Matula should serve as a director of the Company
Has relevant industry experience and provides strong corporate governance and compliance skills to our board of
directors.

Duane C. McDougall, 64
Mr. McDougall has been one of our directors since our February 2013 initial public offering. He served as board
chairman from February 2013 until March 2015. Prior to February 2013, he was a director of our former parent

company from 2005 until 2014.

Business Experience

Mr. McDougall was the board chairman of Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. from December 2008, and also a director

of Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C. from 2005 until its dissolution in September 2014. He became a Boise Cascade

Company director and board chairman in February 2013 in connection with our initial public offering. Mr. McDougall
also served as chief executive officer of Boise Cascade, L.L.C. from December 2008 to August 2009. Prior to joining

our company, Mr. McDougall was president and chief executive officer of Willamette Industries, an international

paper and forest products company, until its sale in 2002. During his 23-year career with Willamette, Mr. McDougall

held numerous operating and finance positions before becoming president and chief executive officer.

Education
B.S. in accounting, Oregon State University

University of Virginia Darden Executive Program

Current public company or registered investment company directorships, other than Boise Cascade Company
The Greenbrier Companies, Inc.

Prior directorships held during past five years at any public company or registered investment company
Cascade Corporation

West Coast Bancorp
StanCorp Financial Group
Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Mr. McDougall should serve as a director of the Company

Experience as a chief executive officer of a major forest products company provides our board of directors with

valuable insight on operational and industry issues. Also provides strong accounting and financial expertise to our
board.
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Christopher J. McGowan, 44

Mr. McGowan has been one of our directors since our February 2013 initial public offering and currently serves as the
chair of our audit committee. Prior to February 2013, he was a director of our former parent company from 2004 to
2013.

Business Experience

Mr. McGowan served as one of Boise Cascade Holdings, L.L.C.’s directors from October 2004 until its dissolution in
September 2014. He became a Boise Cascade Company director in February 2013 in connection with our initial
public offering. In August 2014, he became a general partner of CJIMV-GMC-AHSS, L.P. (d/b/a Autism Home
Support Services, Inc.). In 2012, Mr. McGowan served as a faculty adviser to The University of Chicago Booth
School of Business and currently serves as an Adjunct Assistant Professor, Entrepreneur in Residence, and Senior
Adpviser there. In September 2011, he became a general partner of CJM Ventures, L.L.C. and OPTO Holdings, L.P.
(d/b/a/ OPTO International, Inc.). From 1999 until 2011, he was employed by Madison Dearborn Partners, L.L..C. and
served as a managing director concentrating on investments in the basic industries sector. Prior to joining Madison
Dearborn, Mr. McGowan was with AEA Investors, Inc. and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated.

Education
B.A., Columbia University, Theoretical Mathematics

M.B.A., Harvard Graduate School of Business

Current public company or registered investment company directorships, other than Boise Cascade Company
Cedar Capital, LLC (a registered investment adviser that operates registered investment companies)

Prior directorships held during past five years at any public company or registered investment company
Smurfit Kappa Group Ltd. (formerly known as Jefferson Smurfit Group)

Attributes and skills that led our board to conclude Mr. McGowan should serve as a director of the Company
Provides strong financial and governance skills to our board of directors.

Proposal No. 2 - Advisory Approval of Our Executive Compensation Program

We are providing our shareholders with the opportunity to cast a nonbinding advisory vote regarding the
compensation of our named executive officers. Our compensation philosophy is designed to emphasize a focus on
total compensation, with a large portion of our named executive officers' pay being performance-based and considered
variable, "at risk," and aligned with shareholder interests. We seek to pay for performance so that we can recruit and
retain the talented employees necessary to drive superior financial and operational results. We view our compensation
program as a strategic tool that supports the successful execution of our business strategy and reinforces a
performance-based culture.
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Shareholders are urged to read the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section in this proxy statement, which
discusses how our compensation policies and procedures implement our compensation philosophy. The compensation
committee and our board of directors believe these policies and procedures are effective in implementing our
compensation philosophy and in achieving its goals. Our board of directors has determined the best way to allow
shareholders to vote on our executive compensation program is through the following resolution:

RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to the Company's named executive officers, as disclosed in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis, compensation tables, and narrative discussion in this proxy statement, is
hereby APPROVED.

Your vote is important to us. Although this advisory vote is nonbinding, the compensation committee and our board of
directors will review the results of the vote. The compensation committee will consider our shareholders' preferences
and take them into account in making future determinations concerning our executive compensation program.

Our board of directors unanimously recommends shareholders vote, on a nonbinding advisory basis, FOR the
approval of the resolution set forth above approving the overall executive compensation policies and procedures
employed by us for our named executive officers.

Proposal No. 3 - Majority Voting for Directors in Unopposed Elections

We are providing our shareholders with the opportunity to vote to amend our Certificate of Incorporation to change
the election standard for directors unopposed in an election from a plurality to a majority of shareholder votes. During
2015, our board engaged Morrow & Co., LLC (Morrow) to help the board evaluate a wide variety of governance
issues and determined to submit in this proxy statement this change to a majority vote of shareholders with a
recommendation to shareholders for its approval. During the year, we received inquiries from shareholders
representing the United Brotherhood of Carpenters Pension Fund and the California State Teachers' Pension Fund on
this matter. The board passed the following resolution regarding majority voting:

Resolved, that the Company submit for a shareholder vote a revision to the first sentence of Article Six, Section 4 of
the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as follows:

Section 4. Election and Term of Office. The directors in an uncontested election shall be elected by an affirmative
vote of the majority of the votes of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting of the
stockholders and entitled to vote in the election of directors. The directors in a contested election shall be elected by a
plurality of the votes of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting of the stockholders and
entitled to vote in the election of directors. (The remaining portion of Article Six, Section 4 to remain unchanged.)

This change to our Certificate of Incorporation requires a favorable vote of the majority of the shares outstanding.
Our board of directors unanimously recommends shareholders vote FOR the approval to change the election standard

for directors unopposed in an election from a plurality to a majority of shareholder votes in our Certificate of
Incorporation.
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Proposal No. 4 - Approval of the 2016 Boise Cascade Omnibus Incentive Plan

We are asking our shareholders to approve the 2016 Boise Cascade Omnibus Incentive Plan. Shortly before the
Company's initial public offering in February 2013, our board adopted the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan under which
the Company has been awarding cash and equity incentives. Since our initial public offering, the Company has been
relying on an exemption under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code (Section 162(m)) applicable to publicly
held companies during a transition period following their initial public offerings. During this transition period, the
Company was exempt from the limitations of Section 162(m) to the extent that compensation was paid or certain
compensation was granted pursuant to the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan. However, the transition period under Section
162(m) will expire at the Company’s 2017 annual meeting of stockholders.

While the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan still has over 2 million shares remaining available and the Company is still
within the three-year exemption for newly public companies, the board engaged Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc. to help
structure a plan for adoption in 2016 to position the Company to be able to continue to utilize Section 162(m)’s
performance-based compensation exception and to enable our shareholders to evaluate and approve a plan that we
believe reflects best governance practices as discussed below. Stockholder approval of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive
Plan will enable us to grant awards under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan that may qualify as “performance-based
compensation” within the meaning of Section 162(m). Section 162(m) disallows a deduction to any publicly held
corporation and its affiliates for certain compensation paid to “covered employees” in a taxable year to the extent that
compensation paid to a covered employee exceeds $1 million. However, qualified “performance-based compensation” is
not subject to this deduction limitation. Stockholder approval of the criteria for performance goals, eligible
participants, and maximum award amounts under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan is required for the awards to
satisfy the requirements of Section 162(m). Approval of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan will satisfy this stockholder
approval requirement.

The following discussion summarizes some of the key provisions of the plan. A full copy of the 2016 Omnibus
Incentive Plan can be found at the end of this proxy statement as Appendix A.

Purposes of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan

As discussed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, our short- and long-term incentive plans implement an
important part of our compensation philosophy regarding paying for performance. The awards also help us remain
competitive in attracting and retaining the employees needed for the future growth and success of our Company. The
2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan was designed to maximize the alignment of interests shared by management and
shareholders and corporate governance best practices.

Highlights of 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan and Key Corporate Governance Provisions

We believe the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan will promote the interests of our shareholders and is consistent with
good governance principles, including the following:

Awards under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan will continue to be administered by our compensation committee
(Sectlon 4.2) which is comprised entirely of independent directors who meet SEC and NYSE independence standards.
Annual awards to non-employee directors are limited. The value of shares and cash awarded to a single,
non-employee director during a calendar year may not exceed $450,000 (Section 3.3).
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Repricing of options and stock appreciation rights is prohibited without shareholder approval (Section 5.3).
Dividends or dividend equivalents payable in connection with performance-based awards are subject to the same
restrictions and risk of forfeiture as the underlying award.

With respect to "covered employees" within the meaning of Section 162(m), the compensation committee may not
adjust performance-based awards intended to qualify under Section 162(m) upwards and may not waive the
achievement of the applicable performance goals except in the case of death, disability or special circumstances
(Section 10.3).

The plan limits grants to any participant during any 12-month period to no more than 500,000 shares with respect to
options or stock appreciation rights and 500,000 shares that can be earned pursuant to full value awards that are
intended to comply with the performance-based exemption under Section 162(m). In addition, during any calendar
year, no participant may be granted a qualified performance-based award that is denominated in cash under which
more than $5,000,000 may be earned for each 12 months in the performance period. The awards are doubled with
respect to awards that may be granted to a participant during the first year in which the participant commences
employment with the Company (Section 10.5).

Awards granted under the plan have a "double trigger" in the event of a change in control (Section 11.1).

Awards are subject to recoupment (being clawed back) under the Company's clawback policy and, as required by law,
including the Dodd Frank Act once the applicable SEC rules are in effect.

The 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan also prohibits the liberal recycling of options and stock appreciation rights.
Shares Available for Issuance

The maximum number of shares that may be issued pursuant to awards granted under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive
Plan is 3,700,000 which amount shall be reduced by one (1) share for every one (1) share granted under the 2013
Omnibus Incentive Plan after December 31, 2015 and prior to the effective date of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
The plan will become effective upon obtaining shareholder approval (Section 13.13). Each share issued under the
plan, regardless of the form of the share, will reduce the 3,700,000 share reserve by one share. After the effective date
of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, no awards may be granted under the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Recycling Share Rules (Section 3.1(a))

Shares subject to:

(1)an award that is forfeited,

(2)an award that expires or otherwise terminates without issuance of shares, or

(3) an award settled for cash (in whole or in part) or that otherwise does not result in the issuance of all or a portion
of the shares subject to the award are added to the shares available for grant under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
In addition, after December 31, 2015, if shares subject to an award are forfeited, an award under the 2013 Omnibus
Incentive Plan expires or otherwise terminates without issuance of such shares, or an award under that plan is settled
for cash (in whole or in part), or otherwise does not result in the issuance of all or a portion of the shares subject to
such
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award, then the shares subject to the award or awards under the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan shall, to the extent of
such forfeiture, expiration, termination, cash settlement or non-issuance, be added to the shares available for grant
under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan on a one-for-one basis.

In the event that any withholding tax liabilities arising from an award other than an option or stock appreciation right
are satisfied by the tendering or withholding of shares, then in each such case the shares so tendered or withheld will
be added to the shares available for grant on a one-for-one basis. In the event that after December 31, 2015, any
withholding tax liabilities arising from awards other than options or stock appreciation rights granted under the 2013
Omnibus Incentive Plan are satisfied by the tendering or withholding of shares, then in each such case the shares so
tendered or withheld will be added to the shares available for grant on a one-for-one basis. Notwithstanding anything
to the contrary contained herein, the following shares will not be added to the shares authorized for grant under the
plan: (i) shares tendered or withheld in payment of the purchase price or to satisfy any tax withholding obligation with
respect to an option or stock appreciation right, or after December 31, 2015, an option or stock appreciation right
under the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan; (ii) shares subject to a stock appreciation right or, after December 31, 2015, a
stock appreciation right under the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan that are not issued in connection with its stock
settlement on exercise thereof; and (iii) shares reacquired by the Company on the open market or otherwise using cash
proceeds from the exercise of options or, after December 31, 2015, options under the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Section 162(m) and Performance Measures

Certain performance awards under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan may constitute performance-based compensation
and, as such, would be exempt from Section 162(m)'s $1 million limitation on deductible compensation. Pursuant to
Section 162(m), the Company ordinarily may not deduct compensation of more than $1 million that is paid to certain
“covered employees.” Generally, a "covered employee" is any individual who, on the last day of the taxable year, is our
principal executive officer or an employee whose total compensation for the tax year, is required to be reported to
shareholders because he or she is among the three highest compensated officers for the tax year, other than the
principal executive officer or principal financial officer. The limitation on deductions does not apply, however, to
qualified “performance-based compensation.” One of the requirements of performance-based compensation for purposes
of Section 162(m) is that the material items of the performance goals under which compensation may be paid be
disclosed to and approved by shareholders. For purposes of Section 162(m), the material terms include the employees
eligible to receive compensation, a description of the business criteria on which the performance goal is based, and the
maximum amount of compensation that can be paid to than employee under the performance goal. The compensation
committee may not adjust Section 162(m) qualified, performance-based awards upwards but retains the discretion to
adjust them downwards. Nothing in the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, however, prohibits the compensation

committee from granting awards that do not qualify for the tax deductibility under Section 162(m) and the ultimate
determiner of tax deductibility under Section 162(m) is the Internal Revenue Service. The compensation committee
considers Section 162(m) when making compensation decisions, but other considerations, such as providing the
Company’s named executive officers with competitive and adequate incentives to remain with and increase the
Company’s business operations, financial performance and prospects, as well as rewarding extraordinary contributions,
also significantly factor into the compensation committee’s decisions. The compensation committee may from time to
time pay compensation to our executive officers that may not be deductible for federal income tax purposes if
consistent with our executive compensation philosophy and objectives.

Under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, any performance goals applicable to awards, other than options and Stock
Appreciation Rights (SARs), intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) will be
based on one or more of the following measures set out in more detail in Section 10.2:
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Sales (including comparable sales), net sales, or return on sales;
Revenue, net revenue, product revenue or system-wide revenue (including growth of such revenue measures);
Operating income (before or after taxes), pre- or after-tax income or loss (before or after allocation of corporate
overhead and bonus), earnings or loss per share, or net income or loss (before or after taxes);
Return on equity, total stockholder return, return on assets or net assets;
Appreciation in and/or maintenance of the price of the shares or any other publicly traded securities of the Company;
Market share;

Gross profits, gross or net profit margin, gross profit growth, net operating profit (before or after taxes),
. operating earnings, or earnings or losses or net earnings or losses (including earnings or losses before taxes,

before interest and taxes, or before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization);
€conomic value-added models or equivalent metrics;
€Comparisons with various stock market indices;
Reductions in costs, cash flow (including operating cash flow and free cash flow) or cash flow per share (before or
after dividends);
Return on capital (including return on total capital, pre-tax return on net working capital, or return on invested
capital), cash flow return on investment, or cash flow return on capital;
Improvement in or attainment of expense levels or working capital levels, including cash, inventory and accounts
receivable, general and administrative expense savings, inventory control, operating margin, or gross margin;
Year-end cash, cash margin, debt reduction, stockholders equity, operating efficiencies, or cost reductions or savings;
Market share, customer satisfaction, customer growth, employee satisfaction, productivity or productivity ratios,
regulatory achievements (including submitting or filing applications or other documents with regulatory authorities or
receiving approval of any such applications or other documents and passing pre-approval inspections (whether of the
Company or the Company’s third-party manufacturer) and validation of manufacturing processes (whether the
Company’s or the Company’s third-party manufacturer’s)), strategic partnerships or transactions (including in-licensing
and out-licensing of intellectual property; establishing relationships with commercial entities with respect to the
marketing, distribution and sale of the Company’s products (including with group purchasing organizations,
distributors and other vendors), supply chain achievements (including establishing relationships with manufacturers or
suppliers of component materials and manufacturers of the Company’s products), or co-development, co-marketing,
profit sharing, joint venture or other similar arrangements);
Financial ratios, including those measuring liquidity, activity, profitability or leverage; cost of capital or assets under
management; financing and other capital raising transactions (including sales of the Company’s equity or debt
.securities; debt level year-end cash position, book value, factoring transactions, competitive market metrics, timely
completion of new product roll-outs, timely launch of new facilities (such as new operational openings, gross or net),
sales or licenses of the Company’s assets, including its intellectual property, whether in a particular jurisdiction or
territory or globally; or through partnering transactions), or royalty income; or
Implementation, completion or attainment of measurable objectives with respect to research, development,
manufacturing, commercialization, products or projects, production volume levels, acquisitions and divestitures,
succession and hiring projects, reorganization and other corporate transactions, expansions of specific business
operations and meeting divisional or project budgets; factoring transactions; and recruiting and maintaining personnel.
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The compensation committee may provide for exclusion of the impact of an event or occurrence which the
compensation committee determines should appropriately be excluded, including (a) restructurings, discontinued
operations, extraordinary items, and other unusual, infrequent or non-recurring charges or events, (b) asset
write-downs, (c) significant litigation or claim judgments or settlements, (d) acquisitions or divestitures, (e) any
reorganization or change in the corporate structure or capital structure of the Company, (f) an event either not directly
related to the operations of the Company, Subsidiary, division, business segment or business unit or not within the
reasonable control of management, (g) foreign exchange gains and losses, (h) a change in the fiscal year of the
Company, (i) the cumulative effects of tax or accounting changes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP), or (j) the effect of changes in other laws or regulatory rules affecting reporting results.
Such performance goals (and any exclusions) will be set by the compensation committee prior to the earlier of (a) 90
days after the commencement of the applicable Performance Period and the expiration of 25% of the Performance
Period; and (b) otherwise comply with the requirements of, Section 162(m) and the regulations under Section 162(m)
that otherwise limit the deductible compensation to $1 million.

Subject to certain equitable adjustments as provided in the plan, no participant may be granted (i) options or SARs
during any 12-month period with respect to more than 500,000 shares; and (ii) awards other than options or SARs
during any calendar year that are intended to comply with the performance-based exception under Section 162(m) and
are denominated in shares under which more than 500,000 shares may be earned for each 12 months in the vesting
period or performance period. During any calendar year no participant may be granted performance awards that are
intended to comply with the performance-based exception under Section 162(m) and are denominated in cash under
which more than $5,000,000 may be earned for each 12 months in the performance period. Each of these limitations
will be multiplied by two with respect to awards granted to a participant during the first calendar year in which the
participant commences employment with the Company and its subsidiaries. If an award is canceled, the canceled
award will continue to be counted toward the applicable limitation.

Director Limit

The aggregate amount of all compensation granted to any non-employee director during any calendar year of the
Company, including any awards (based on grant date fair value computed as of the date of grant in accordance with
applicable financial accounting rules) and any cash retainer or meeting fee paid or provided for service on the board or
any committee thereof, or any award granted in lieu of any such cash retainer or meeting fee, will not exceed
$450,000.

Change in Control and Double Trigger

In the event of a change in control (as defined in the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan) in Boise Cascade, there is
generally no trigger of the awards if the successor company continues, assumes or substitutes other grants for
outstanding awards. In the event of a change in control, the compensation committee has the right to cancel and/or
terminate without payment any out-of-the-money options and Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) and pay out
performance awards considered to be earned under the terms of the plan. However, if within two years following the
change in control, the participant terminates employment then under the terms specified in the applicable award
agreement:

Options and SARs outstanding as of the date of the termination of employment will immediately vest, become fully
exercisable, and may thereafter be exercised for 24 months (or the period of time set forth in the award agreement);
The restrictions, limitations and other conditions applicable to restricted stock and restricted stock units outstanding as
of the date of such termination of employment will lapse and the restricted stock and restricted stock units shall
become free of all restrictions, limitations and conditions and become fully vested; and
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The restrictions, limitations and other conditions applicable to any other share-based awards shall lapse, and such
other share-based awards shall become free of all restrictions, limitations and conditions and become fully vested and
transferable to the full extent of the original grant.

Types of Awards and Class of Eligible Participants

The 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan provides for the award to employees, directors, and consultants of the Company of
options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, SARs, performance awards (which may take the form of performance
cash, performance units or performance shares) and other awards. Subject to the terms of the plan, the compensation
committee has discretion to determine the form of the award, the amount of the award, and the terms and conditions
under which the award is granted. Under no circumstances may the compensation committee award options or grants
in excess of the share pool then available.

As of March 1, 2016, 9 non-employee directors, 12 company officers and 90 senior managers in our Company would
be eligible to participate in the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Stock Options

Stock options may be either nonqualified stock options or incentive stock options. The option exercise price may not
be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share on the date of the grant. The exercise term of a stock option
cannot exceed ten years. The terms and conditions of the option, including the number of shares to which the option
pertains, its exercise price, vesting, and expiration are determined by the compensation committee and set forth in an
award document.

Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs)

Freestanding and tandem SARsS, or a combination thereof may be granted to participants. An SAR may not have a
term greater than ten years. The terms and conditions (including exercise price), vesting, expiration, and exercisability
are determined by the compensation committee and set forth in an award document. The compensation committee also
determines whether payment on exercise of an SAR is made in cash, in whole shares, or in any combination thereof.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)

Restricted stock and RSUs may be granted to participants. The terms and conditions, including the period of
restriction and the number of shares or units granted, are determined by the compensation committee and set forth in
an award document. The restrictions may be based upon such factors as achievement of specific performance goals
and/or time-based restrictions on vesting. Restricted stock or RSUs will be forfeited to the extent that a participant
fails to satisfy the applicable conditions to lift the restrictions. Generally, but subject to the discretion of the
compensation committee, a participant holding restricted stock has, during the period of restriction, the right to vote
the shares and will be credited with dividends. Participants awarded RSUs are not entitled to voting rights but are
entitled to dividends. Dividends payable on restricted stock or RSUs will be subject to the restrictions and risk of
forfeiture to the same extent of the underlying award and will not be paid until the restrictions and risk of forfeiture
lapse.

Other Share-Based Awards

The compensation committee has discretion to grant other awards of shares or other awards valued in whole or in part
by reference to shares or other property. That discretion includes granting deferred stock units. The terms and
conditions, including exercise price, vesting, and expiration are determined by the compensation committee and set
forth in an award document.
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Performance Awards

The compensation committee has discretion to grant performance awards in the form of performance cash,
performance shares or performance units. The performance goals to be achieved for each Performance Period shall be
conclusively determined by the compensation committee as described under “Section 162(m) and Performance
Measures.” Performance awards will be distributed only after the end of the relevant Performance Period. The terms
and conditions, including dividend equivalents, are determined by the compensation committee and set forth in an
award document.

Dilution Under the 2013 and 2016 Omnibus Plans

The following includes aggregated information regarding the overhang and dilution associated with the 2013 Omnibus
Incentive Plan and the potential shareholder dilution that would result if the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan is
approved. This information is as of December 31, 2015. As of that date, there were approximately 38,825,687 shares
of common stock outstanding:

Outstandmg full-value awards (restricted stock units and performance stock units): 351,719 shares (0.8% of our
fully diluted shares outstanding);

Outstanding stock options: 117,282 shares (0.3% of our fully-diluted shares outstanding) (outstanding stock options
have a weighted average exercise price of $27.19 and a weighted average remaining term of 6.3 years);

Total shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards, as described above (restricted stock units, performance
stock units and stock options): 469,001 shares (1.1% of our fully-diluted shares outstanding);

:Fotal shares of common stock available for future awards under the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan: 2,426,903 shares
(5.8% of our fully-diluted shares outstanding);

The total number of shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards (469,001 shares), plus the total number of
shares available for future awards under the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2,426,903 shares), represents a current
fully diluted overhang percentage of 6.9% (in other words, the potential dilution of our stockholders represented by
the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan); and

If the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan is approved, the total shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards as of
December 31, 2015 (469,001 shares), plus the proposed shares available for issuance under the 2016 Omnibus
Incentlve Plan (3,700,000 shares), represent a total fully-diluted overhang of 4,169,001 shares (9.7%) under the 2016
Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Based on the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange for our common stock on March 7, 2016, of $17.26 per

share, the aggregate market value as of that date of the 3,700,000 shares of common stock proposed under the 2016
Omnibus Incentive Plan was $63.9 million.
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In 2013 through 2015, we granted awards under the 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan as follows:

Equity Compensation Usage

2015 2014 2013 3-Year Avg.
Options — — 161,257 53,752
RSUs & target PSUs 256,803 229,189 104,285 196,759
Gross Grants 256,803 229,189 265,542 250,511
Gross Usage (% Outstanding) 0.65 %0.58 % 0.66 %0.63 %
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding 39,239,000 39,412,000 40,203,000 39,618,000

In determining the number of shares to request for approval under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, our management
team worked with Frederic Cook, the compensation committee's independent compensation consultant, and the
compensation committee to evaluate a number of factors including criteria expected to be utilized by proxy advisory
firms in evaluating our proposal for the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

If the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan is approved, we intend to utilize the shares authorized under the 2016 Omnibus
Incentive Plan to continue our practice of incenting key individuals through annual equity grants. Our compensation
committee would retain full discretion under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan to determine the number and amount
of awards to be granted under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, subject to the terms of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive
Plan, and future benefits that may be received by participants under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan are not
determinable at this time.

We believe that we have demonstrated a commitment to sound equity compensation practices since our initial public

offering. We recognize that equity compensation awards dilute stockholder equity, so we have carefully managed our
equity incentive compensation. Our equity compensation practices are intended to be competitive and consistent with
market practices, and we believe our historical share usage has been responsible and mindful of stockholder interests,
as described above.

Clawback of Awards

At its February 2016 meeting, our board adopted a clawback policy whereby any participant in our incentive plans is
subject to having all or part of any future incentive clawed back if the participant was involved in intentional
misconduct that led to a restatement of earnings that would also have resulted in a lower incentive payout for the
participant. Since becoming a public company in 2013, the Company's grants have contained a provision allowing for
a clawback either adopted by the Company or a regulatory body so this policy applies to all current, outstanding
grants.

Federal Income Tax Consequences

The rules concerning the federal income tax consequences with respect to awards made pursuant to our 2016 Omnibus
Incentive Plan are technical and reasonable persons may differ on the proper interpretation of the rules. The applicable
statutory and regulatory provisions are subject to change, as are their interpretations and applications, which may also
vary in individual circumstances. The following discussion is designed to provide only a brief, general summary
description of the federal income tax consequences associated with the awards, based on a good faith interpretation of
the current federal income tax laws.

Nonqualified Stock Options (NQSOs). An optionee does not recognize taxable income upon the grant of an NQSO.
Upon the exercise of such a stock option, the optionee recognizes ordinary income
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to the extent the Fair Market Value of the shares received upon exercise of the NQSO on the date of exercise exceeds
the exercise price. We will receive an income tax deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income that the
optionee recognizes upon the exercise of the stock option.

Restricted Stock. A participant who receives an award of restricted stock does not generally recognize taxable income
at the time of the award. Instead, the participant recognizes ordinary income in the first taxable year in which his or
her interest in the shares becomes either: (a) freely transferable; or (b) no longer subject to substantial risk of
forfeiture. The amount of taxable income is equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares less the cash, if any, paid for
the shares. A participant may elect to recognize income at the time of grant of restricted stock in an amount equal to
the Fair Market Value of the restricted stock (less any cash paid for the shares) on the date of the award. We will
receive a compensation expense deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income recognized by the participant in
the taxable year in which restrictions lapse (or in the taxable year of the award if, at that time, the participant had filed
a timely election to accelerate recognition of income).

SARs. A participant who exercises a SAR will recognize ordinary income upon the exercise equal to the amount of
cash and the Fair Market Value of any shares received on as a result of the exercise. We will receive an income tax
deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income that the participant recognizes upon the exercise of the SAR.
Other Awards. In the case of an award of restricted stock units (RSUs), performance share units (PSUs), or cash, the
participant would generally recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to any cash received and the Fair Market
Value of any shares received on the date of payment. In that taxable year, we would receive a federal income tax
deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income that the participant has recognized.

Section 409A. Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code provides special tax rules applicable to programs that
provide for a deferral of compensation. Failure to comply with those requirements will result in accelerated
recognition of income for tax purposes along with an additional tax equal to 20% of the amount included in income,
and interest on deemed underpayments in certain circumstances. While certain awards under the 2016 Omnibus
Incentive Plan could be subject to Section 409A, the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan has been drafted to comply with
the requirements of Section 409A, where applicable.

Administration

The 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan is administered by the compensation committee. The compensation committee
generally may delegate its power, authority and duties under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, except as prohibited
by law. The compensation committee determines who among those eligible to participate in the 2016 Omnibus
Incentive Plan will be granted awards, determines the amounts and types of awards to be granted, determines the
terms and conditions of all awards, and construes and interprets the terms of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
Determinations of the compensation committee are final, binding, and conclusive.

Term of 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan

The 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan will be effective on the date of the approval of the plan by the shareholders. The
plan will be null and void and of no effect if the shareholders do not approve the plan. Awards may be granted under
the plan at any time and from time to time on or prior to the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the plan, on
which date the plan will expire except as to awards then outstanding under the plan. In no event may an incentive
stock option be granted more than ten (10) years after the earlier of (i) the date of the adoption of the plan by the
board, or (ii) the effective date of the plan. Such outstanding awards shall remain in effect until they have been
exercised or terminated, or have expired.
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Transferability of Awards

No award and no shares that have not been issued or as to which any applicable restriction, performance or deferral
period has not lapsed, may be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered, other than by will or the
laws of descent and distribution. Awards under the plan may be exercised during the life of the participant only by the
participant or the participant’s guardian or legal representative. However, the compensation committee may choose to
allow a participant to assign or transfer an award without consideration ((i) to the participant’s spouse, children or
grandchildren (including any adopted and step children or grandchildren), parents, grandparents or siblings; (ii) to a
trust for the benefit of one or more of the participant or the persons referred to in clause (i); (iii) to a partnership,
limited liability company or corporation in which the participant or the persons referred to in clause (i) are the only
partners, members or shareholders; or (iv) for charitable donations; provided that such assignee is bound by and
subject to all of the terms and conditions of the plan and the award agreement relating to the transferred award and
executes an agreement satisfactory to the Company evidencing the obligations. Under all transfers, the participants
remain bound by the terms and conditions of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Repricing Prohibition and Allowable Equitable Adjustments

Other than pursuant to an equitable adjustment as provided for in the plan, the Committee may not without the
approval of the Company’s stockholders (a) lower the option price per share of an option or stock appreciation right
after it is granted, (b) cancel an option or stock appreciation right when the option or base price per share exceeds the
Fair Market Value of one share in exchange for cash or another award (other than in connection with a change in
control), or (c) take any other action with respect to an option or stock appreciation right that would be treated as a
repricing under the rules and regulations of the principal U.S. national securities exchange on which the shares are
traded.

In the event of a merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, dividend or distribution (whether in cash,
shares or other property, other than a regular cash dividend), stock split, reverse stock split, spin-off, or similar
transaction or other change in corporate structure affecting the shares or the value thereof, our compensation
committee will make appropriate adjustments and other substitutions to the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan and to the
awards under the plan in a manner the compensation committee deems equitable or appropriate. The compensation
committee will take into consideration the accounting and tax consequences, including such adjustments in the
aggregate number, class and kind of securities that may be delivered under the plan, the limitations grant to individual
participants under Section 10.5 of the plan (other than to awards denominated in cash), the maximum number of
shares that may be issued pursuant to incentive stock options and, in the aggregate or to any participant, in the
number, class, kind and option or exercise price of securities subject to outstanding awards granted under the plan
(including, if the compensation committee deems appropriate, the substitution of similar options to purchase the
shares of, or other awards denominated in the shares of, another company); provided, however, that the number of
shares subject to any award shall always be a whole number.

Plan Benefits

No awards have been granted, and no specific plans have been made for the grant of future awards, under the 2016
Omnibus Incentive Plan. The amount and timing of all awards under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan will be
determined in the sole discretion of our compensation committee and therefore cannot be determined in advance. It is
not possible to determine the amount or form of any award that will be granted to any individual in the future as there
are many variables the compensation committee considers in granting equity awards. Although future grants under the
2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan are not determinable at this time, for illustrative purposes and not necessarily indicative
of the shares that might be awarded under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, the table below sets forth the awards that
were granted under the 2013 Omnibus Plan during 2015 to the current named
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executive officers, all executive officers as a group, all non-employee directors as a group and all non-executive
officer employees as a group. The size of past awards is not necessarily indicative of the size of future awards but is
illustrative to show potential dilution and share usage.

’(Il‘;elrget Dollar Value Number of RSUs Number of PSUs

Thomas E. Carlile — — _
Chief Executive Officer (»

Name and Position

Thomas K. Corrick $1,500,000 20,735 20,735
Chief Executive Officer and
Former Chief Operating Officer

Wayne M. Rancourt $450,000 6,221 6,221
Executive Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and

Treasurer

Nick Stokes $450,000 6,221 6,221
Executive Vice President,
Building Materials Distribution

Dan Hutchinson $450,000 6,221 6,221
Executive Vice President
Wood Products

John T. Sahlberg $400,000 5,529 5,529
Senior Vice President

Human Resources, General

Counsel and Secretary

All Other Executive Officers $700,000 9,676 9,676

All Non-Employee Directors $745,000 20,599 —

All Non-Officer Employees $4,665,000 67,251 G 61,722

(I)The closing price of our common stock on the NYSE on February 25, 2015 was $36.17 per common share. The
award units are divided evenly between PSUs and RSUs.

(2)Mr. Carlile's retirement was scheduled for March 6, 2015, and he was not awarded any LTI for 2015.

(3)New Hires and promoted employees who come into the plan mid-year were granted pro rata share of RSUs but no
PSUs.

Our board of directors unanimously recommends shareholders vote FOR the approval of the 2016 Boise Cascade
Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Proposal No. 5 - Ratification of Independent Accountant
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The audit committee of our board of directors is responsible for the engagement of our independent auditor and has
appointed KPMG LLP (KPMG) in that capacity, effective February 23, 2016.
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Although ratification is not required by our bylaws or otherwise, our board of directors is submitting the selection of
KPMG to our shareholders for ratification because we value our shareholders' views on our independent registered
public accounting firm and as a matter of good corporate practice. If the appointment of KPMG is not ratified, the
audit committee will evaluate the basis for the shareholders’ vote when determining whether to continue the firm’s
engagement, but may ultimately determine to continue the engagement of the firm or another audit firm without
resubmitting the matter to shareholders. Even if the selection of KPMG is ratified, the audit committee may, in its sole
discretion, change the appointment at any time during the year if it determines a change would be in the best interests
of the Company and our shareholders.

It is expected that one or more representatives of KPMG will be present at our Annual Meeting to answer questions.
They will also have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so.

For information on the services KPMG has provided for us, please refer to the following table:

2015

Audit Fees $ 1,930,000
Audit-Related Fees 8,000

Tax Fees 63,005

All Other Fees —

Total $ 2,001,005

Our board of directors unanimously recommends shareholders vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of KPMG
as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2016.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Code of Ethics for Our Board of Directors

We have adopted a Boise Cascade Company Code of Ethics (Code of Ethics) that applies to our directors and all of
our employees. We have a toll-free reporting service available that permits employees to confidentially report
violations of our Code of Ethics or other issues of significant concern. We have a direct email link to our board on our
website by selecting Contact at the top of the page and then Board of Directors in the drop down box.

If we amend or grant a waiver of one or more of the provisions of our Code of Ethics, we intend to satisfy the
requirements under Item 5.05 of Item 8-K regarding the disclosure of amendments to or waivers from provisions of
our Code of Ethics by posting the required information on our website.

You may view a copy of our Code of Ethics by visiting our website at www.bc.com and selecting Investors at the
bottom of the page, then Code of Ethics.
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Corporate Governance Guidelines

Our board of directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines (the Guidelines) to assist the board in exercising
its responsibilities. The Guidelines reflect our board's commitment to monitor the effectiveness of policy and decision
making, both at the board and management levels. Our board of directors believes the Guidelines will enhance our
ability to achieve our goals and long-term success and will assist us in increasing shareholder value. The Guidelines
are in addition to and are not intended to change or interpret any federal or state law or regulation, including the
Delaware General Corporation Law, our Certificate of Incorporation or bylaws, or the rules of the New York Stock
Exchange (the NYSE). Our board of directors may modify the Guidelines from time to time on the recommendation
of the corporate governance and nominating committee and as deemed appropriate by our board of directors.

You may view a complete copy of the Guidelines by visiting our website at www.bc.com and selecting Investors, then
Leadership and Governance, and then Corporate Governance Guidelines.

Director Independence

Our directors believe board independence is important and is key for the board to function properly, allowing it to
provide appropriate oversight and maintain managerial accountability.

We list our common stock on the NYSE. The NYSE rules require that a majority of our directors be independent from
management and all members of our board committees be independent. For a director to be independent under the
NYSE's rules, our board must determine affirmatively that he or she has no material relationship with us.
Additionally, he or she cannot violate any of the bright line independence tests set forth in the NYSE listing rules that
would prevent our board of directors from determining that he or she was independent. These rules contain heightened
independence tests for members of our audit and compensation committees. Our board of directors will broadly
consider all relevant facts and circumstances to determine the independence of any director, in accordance with the
NYSE listing rules.

To assist in making this determination, our board adopted the NYSE's independence standards, including the NYSE
listing rules and Rules 10A-3 and 10C-1 under the Exchange Act. For purposes of these standards, we include Boise
Cascade Company and our consolidated subsidiaries.

Our board has determined that Ms. Gowland and Messrs. Cooper, Fleming, Hannah, Hogans, Matula, McDougall and
McGowan are independent directors as defined under the NYSE's listing standards. These directors constitute a
majority of our board of directors and represent all of our committee members. In making their determination, our
board considered the relationships disclosed in the Related-Person/Party Transactions section below.

Additionally, our board of directors has determined that (i) each member of the audit committee meets the heightened
independence standards for audit committee service under the NYSE listing rules and Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange
Act; and (ii) each member of the compensation committee meets the heightened independence standards for
compensation committee service under the NYSE listing rules and Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act.

Our board of directors and its committees can retain, at their sole discretion and at our expense, independent financial,
legal, compensation, or other advisors to represent the independent interests of our board of directors or its
committees.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our officers, directors, and persons who beneficially own more than ten
percent of our common stock to file reports of securities ownership and changes in such ownership with the SEC.
Officers, directors, and greater than ten percent beneficial owners also are required by rules promulgated by the SEC
to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based on a review of such reports, we believe that during our last fiscal year, all Section 16(a) filing requirements
were complied with, as applicable to our officers, directors and greater than ten percent beneficial owners.

Related-Person/Party Transactions

Family Relationships

No family relationships exist between any of our directors and executive officers.

Affiliated-Company Transactions

Mr. Cooper, one of our directors, is the president and chief executive officer of TrueBlue, Inc. (TrueBlue), an
industrial staffing company. In 2015, the Company had commercial relationships with TrueBlue and its subsidiaries
that amounted to approximately $282,000.

Policies and Procedures for Related-Person/Party Transactions

Our written policy regarding transactions with related persons requires that a "related person” (as defined in paragraph
(a) of Item 404 of Regulation S-K) must promptly disclose to our general counsel any "related person transaction"
(defined as any transaction that is reportable by us under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K in which we are or will be a
participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and in which any related person has or will have a direct or
indirect material interest) in which such related person has or will have a direct or indirect material interest and all
material facts with respect thereto. The general counsel will promptly communicate such information to our audit
committee or another independent body of our board of directors. No related-person transaction will be entered into
without the approval or ratification of our audit committee or another independent body of our board of directors. It is
our policy that directors recuse themselves from any discussion or decision affecting their personal, business or
professional interests. Our policy does not specify the standards to be applied by our audit committee or another
independent body of our board of directors in determining whether to approve or ratify a related-person transaction,
and we accordingly anticipate that these determinations will be made in accordance with Delaware law.

Role of Compensation Consultant

The compensation committee has retained Frederic Cook as its independent, compensation consultant to assist the
committee in discharging its responsibilities. Prior to retaining Frederic Cook, the compensation committee
considered that Frederic Cook does not provide any other services to the Company or its executive officers and
determined that there was no conflict of interest according to the factors the compensation committee determined to be
relevant including the independence factors enumerated by the NYSE.
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Role of Board of Directors in Our Risk Management Processes

Our board of directors oversees the risk management activities designed and implemented by our management. The
board of directors executes its oversight responsibility for risk management both directly and through its committees.
The full board of directors also considers specific risk topics, including risks associated with our strategic plan,
business operations, and capital structure. In addition, the board of directors receives detailed regular reports from
members of our senior management and other personnel that include assessments and potential mitigation of the risks
and exposures involved with their respective areas of responsibility.

Our board of directors delegates to the audit committee oversight of our risk management process. Our other board
committees also consider and address risk as they perform their respective committee responsibilities. All committees
report to the full board of directors as appropriate, including when a matter rises to the level of a material- or
enterprise-level risk.

Our internal audit department annually develops a risk-based audit plan that is reviewed with the audit committee,
along with the results of internal audit reviews and activities. The internal audit department maintains a high level
assessment of risks and controls for key operations, functions, processes, applications, and systems within the
Company. The audit committee meets a number of times each year with our director of internal audit, our chief
financial officer, and our controller.

We also have in place a number of independent assurance activities responsible for assessing whether our risk
response activities are in place and working effectively. These assurance activities include, but are not limited to,
corporate legal audits, corporate security, environmental audits, and safety audits.

Risk Analysis of Employee Compensation Policies and Practices

We reviewed our compensation policies and practices for our employees and determined these policies and practices
do not induce our employees to take unacceptable levels of business risk for the purpose of increasing their incentive
plan awards at the expense of shareholder interests. Some of the considerations in making this determination were:
None of our businesses presents a high risk profile in that a very large percentage of our revenues and income is
derived from commodity products;

Our incentive pay structure rewards performance in both the short and long term (i.e., short-term incentives are not
paid out at the expense of long-term shareholder value);

Our incentive pay program has both minimum and maximum caps designed to take into account short- and long-term
affordability measures;

The compensation committee reserves the right to reduce or eliminate any awards, in its discretion, with respect to our
short-term incentive pay program;

We have adopted a clawback for our equity-based Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and our cash-based Short Term
Incentive Plan (STIP) that enables our board to clawback any or all of any award predicated on restated financial
results where the employee engaged in intentional misconduct leading to the restatement and could have received a

lower payment under the restatement; and

Our executive compensation program does not encourage our management to take unreasonable risks relating to the
business.
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Director Selection Process
Our corporate governance and nominating committee is responsible for, among other matters:

identifying individuals qualified to become members of our board of directors, consistent with criteria approved by
our board of directors;

recommending to our board a slate of director nominees for election or reelection at the annual meeting of
shareholders; and

recommending to our board of directors persons to fill board and committee
vacancies.

Through this process, members of the corporate governance and nominating committee consult with our board chair
and accept nominee recommendations from other directors and/or shareholders in accordance with the terms of our
Certificate of Incorporation and our bylaws. The invitation to join our board of directors is extended by our board of
directors through our board chair. Our lead independent director is also the chair of our corporate governance and
nominating committee.

Suitability of Candidates

In evaluating the suitability of candidates, our board of directors and corporate governance and nominating committee
consider many factors, including a candidate's:

experience as a senior officer in a public or substantial private company or other comparable experience;

breadth of knowledge about issues affecting the Company and/or its industry;

.expertise in finance, logistics, manufacturing, law, human resources or marketing or other areas that our board
determines are important areas of needed expertise; and

personal attributes that include integrity and sound ethical character, absence of legal or regulatory impediments,
absence of conflicts of interest, demonstrated track record of achievement, ability to act in an oversight capacity,
appreciation for the issues confronting a public company, adequate time to devote to our board of directors and its
committees, and willingness to assume broad/fiduciary responsibilities on behalf of all stockholders. The corporate
governance and nominating committee is committed to nondiscrimination in its selection practices and makes
decisions primarily on the basis of skills, qualifications, and experience.

Candidates for nomination have been recommended by other directors and/or shareholders and considered by the
corporate governance and nominating committee and our board of directors.

Consideration of Diversity in Nomination Process

Our current board has a rich mixture of educational, professional, and experiential diversity. As opportunities to
appoint new directors become available in the future, in addition to the factors set forth above, our board of directors
will consider gender, racial, ethnic, and global diversity for director recruitment.

Shareholder Nominations for Directors

The corporate governance and nominating committee has not adopted a formal policy regarding shareholder
nominations for directors because the corporate governance and nominating committee
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does not believe such a policy is necessary for the equitable treatment of shareholder nominations. In accordance with
our bylaws, however, the corporate governance and nominating committee will consider shareholder nominations for

directors (please refer to the Shareholder Proposals for Inclusion in Next Year's Proxy Statement section in this proxy
statement for related instructions). We did not receive any shareholder nomination or recommendation for director in

connection with the Annual Meeting.

Board and Committee Self-Evaluations

Our directors conduct annual self-evaluations of our board of directors and its committees. These evaluations assess
the overall effectiveness of our board of directors. The chairman of the board reviews the directors' responses and
provides the individual board members, the corporate governance and nominating committee, and full board with an
assessment of the performance of the board and its committees. The purpose of the evaluation is to increase the
effectiveness of our board, its committees, and its directors.

Board Governance

The board believes that wider perspective and best practices learned by board members serving in other public
directorships must be balanced against the time commitment that service on boards entails. Therefore in 2015, we
amended the Corporate Governance Guidelines to adopt an overboarding policy whereby our non-employee directors
are limited to no more than three public boards, in addition to ours, and our CEO to one additional public board. You
can view this change by visiting our website at www.bc.com and selecting Investors, then Leadership and Governance
and then Corporate Governance Guidelines.

Communications with Our Board of Directors

You may contact our board of directors by writing to the chairman of the corporate governance and nominating
committee, in care of the chief financial officer at the address or email address shown below. All correspondence will
be referred to the chairman of the board, who is not a member of management. Copies of all complaints or concerns
are forwarded to our general counsel and corporate secretary.

Boise Cascade Company

Attention: Chairman of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

c/o Chief Financial Officer

1111 West Jefferson Street, Suite 300

Boise, ID 83702

Email: legaldepartment@bc.com

You may also contact our board of directors by email by going to our website, www.bc.com, and selecting Contact at
the top of the page, then selecting Board of Directors in the drop down box.

BOARD STRUCTURE
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Board Leadership Structure

Currently the positions of chairman and chief executive officer are filled separately. Our board of directors believes
that this structure is appropriate for the Company at this time. Mr. Carlile’s (our chairman of the board) experience as
our former chief executive officer provides our board of directors with valuable insight on operational and industry
issues.

On February 4, 2013, our corporate governance and nominating committee and our board of directors adopted the
Guidelines to serve as a flexible framework within which the board conducts business. This framework includes at
least two meetings per year with only the independent directors to discuss matters as they deem appropriate, with the
chairman of the corporate governance and nominating committee presiding. On October 28, 2015, our board
formalized our practice that the chair of the governance and nominating committee serves as the lead independent
director. Our lead independent director presides over all meetings of the independent directors and works
collaboratively with our chairman and chief executive officer regarding board governance, process, and establishing
meeting agendas for our board.

Executive Sessions and Independent Director Sessions

Our board of directors and each of our committees routinely meet in executive sessions outside the presence of
management. Mr. Carlile, our chairman of the board, presides over the executive sessions of our board of directors,
and each committee chair presides over the executive sessions of each respective committee. Mr. Hogans, the chair of
our corporate governance and nominating committee and our lead independent director, presides over the executive
sessions of our independent board members.

2015 Overall Meeting Attendance Rates

During 2015, our board of directors met four times in person and four times by telephone conference. In addition to
meetings of the full board, our board committees met a total of 15 times. As a group, our directors had an overall
attendance rate of 98%.

Under the Guidelines, our directors are expected to attend our Annual Meeting to be held on April 27, 2016. All of the
directors on the board attended the 2015 annual meeting of shareholders.

Committees

Our board of directors has established the following three standing committees:

Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

The composition, duties, and responsibilities of these committees are outlined in written charters adopted by our board
of directors. Each committee charter is reviewed annually by its respective committee to ensure ongoing compliance
with applicable laws and sound governance practices. Each committee submits any recommended changes to its
charter coming out of such review to our board of directors.

You may view copies of our committee charters by visiting our website at www.bc.com and selecting Investors at the
bottom of the page and then Leadership and Governance. You are then able to select any of the committee charters.
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Audit Committee
2015 Committee Meeting

Committee Members (D
Attendance Rate @

Christopher J. McGowan, committee chair ) 100%
Steven C. Cooper 100%
Richard H. Fleming & 100%
1) All members of the audit committee are independent as defined under the applicable NYSE listing standards

and in accordance with Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act, as determined by our board of directors.
(2) The audit committee met two times in person and four times telephonically during 2015.

Our board of directors has determined that Messrs. McGowan, Cooper, and Fleming are audit committee financial

(3)experts, as defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act.

The audit committee of our board of directors is responsible for matters including the following:
Reviewing and discussing with management and the independent auditors:

the Company’s annual audited financial statements and quarterly unaudited financial statements;

major issues regarding accounting principles, financial statement presentations, and the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company’s internal controls;

significant financial reporting issues and judgments including the effects of alternative GAAP methods on the
financial statements; and

the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives on the Company’s financial statements.

Discussing with management our overall risk assessment and risk management policies;

Reviewing disclosures made by our chief executive officer and chief financial officer regarding any significant
deficiencies or material weakness in the design or operation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting

and any fraud involving management or employees who have a significant role over financial reporting;

Establishing procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints or confidential submissions regarding
accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters;

Overseeing such portions of the Code of Ethics as our board of directors may designate from time to time;

Discussing with management and/or our general counsel any legal matters that may have a material impact on our
financial statements;

Selecting, overseeing, and determining the compensation of the Company’s independent auditors;
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Approving audit fees paid to independent auditors, preapproving all audit services (and non-audit services to be
performed for the Company by the independent auditors) and considering whether the provision of non-audit services
is compatible with maintaining the auditor’s independence;

Annually evaluating the qualifications, performance, and independence of the independent auditors;

Annually preparing a report to be included in our proxy statement and submitting such report to our board of directors
for approval;

Reviewing the scope and staffing of the independent auditors annual audit, discussing all matters required by PCAOB
auditing Standard No. 16, and discussing any audit problems or difficulties and management’s response;

Reviewing internal audit department activities and approving the internal audit department projects and annual
budget; and

Reviewing with the senior internal auditing executive the significant reports to management prepared by the
internal auditing department and management's responses.

For a complete description of our audit committee's responsibilities, you may view a copy of our audit committee
charter by visiting our website at www.bc.com and selecting Investors at the bottom of the page and then Leadership
and Governance. You are then able to select the audit committee charter.

Compensation Committee

2015 Committee Meeting

Committee Members (D
Attendance Rate @

Karen E. Gowland, committee chair 100%
David H. Hannah 100%
Kristopher J. Matula 100%

(I)All members of the compensation committee are independent as defined under the applicable NYSE's listing
standards, as determined by our board of directors.

(2) The compensation committee of our board of directors met in person four times and two times telephonically.

The compensation committee of our board of directors is responsible for matters including the following:

Assisting our board of directors in discharging its responsibilities relating to compensation of our board

members, chief executive officer, and other executive officers;

Reviewing and approving employment agreements and other similar arrangements between the Company and our
chief executive officer and other executive officers;

Reviewing and evaluating the Company's overall compensation philosophy and overseeing the Company's equity,
incentive, and other compensation and benefits plans; and

Preparing the compensation committee report on executive officer compensation required by the SEC for inclusion in
the Company’s annual proxy statement or Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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For a complete description of our compensation committee's responsibilities, you may view a copy of our
compensation committee charter by visiting our website at www.bc.com and selecting Investors at the bottom of the
page and then Leadership and Governance. You are then able to select the compensation committee charter.

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

2015 Committee Meeting

Committee Members (D
Attendance Rate @

Mack L. Hogans, committee chair 100%
Karen E. Gowland 100%
David H. Hannah 100%

All members of the corporate governance and nominating committee are independent as defined under the

(l)applicable NYSE's listing standards, as determined by our board of directors.

(2)The corporate governance and nominating committee of our board of directors met in person three times during
2015.

The corporate governance and nominating committee of our board of directors is responsible for matters including the
following:
Identifying and assessing persons qualified to become board members, consistent with the qualification standards and

criteria approved by the board;

Recommending to the board a slate of director nominees for election or reelection at the annual meeting of
stockholders;

Recommending to the board the structure and membership of board committees;

Recommending to the board persons to fill board and committee vacancies;

Overseeing annual evaluations of the board and committees of the board;

Reviewing periodically the Guidelines applicable; and

Making other recommendations to the board relative to corporate governance issues.

For a complete description of our corporate governance and nominating committee's responsibilities, you may view a
copy of our corporate governance and nominating committee charter by visiting our website at www.bc.com and
selecting Investors at the bottom of the page and then Leadership and Governance. You are then able to select the
corporate governance and nominating committee charter.

BOARD COMPENSATION

Employee board members do not receive compensation for their service on our board of directors. Mr. Corrick is
currently our only employee board member. Nonemployee board members in 2015 were entitled to receive the

compensation described below under "2015 Director Fees."
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Director Compensation Table

The following table presents compensation information for each of our current and former nonemployee directors for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015:
Change in Pension

Fees Value/

Ea.rne'd or Stock Nonqualified All Other Total
Name Paid in Awards Deferred Compensation ($) $)

Cash $ @ Compensation p

($) ™ Earnings

$®

Thomas E. Carlile $131,111 $105,002 — — $236,113
Steven C. Cooper 59,306 80,008 273 139,587
Richard H. Fleming 70,000 80,008 — — 150,008
Karen E. Gowland 80,000 80,008 331 — 160,339
David H. Hannah 70,000 80,008 — — 150,008
Mack L. Hogans 77,500 80,008 — — 157,508
Kristopher J. Matula 70,000 80,008 580 — 150,588
Duane C. McDougall 86,250 80,008 — — 166,258
Christopher J. McGowan 85,000 80,008 — — 165,008
Matthew W. Norton 4 11,278 — — — 11,278

Mr. Cooper joined the board of directors on February 25, 2015. Mr. Carlile joined the board of directors in
(1)February 2013 and became chairman on March 7, 2015. Mr. McDougall served as chairman through March 6,
2015. Their cash payments were pro-rated for 2015.

On February 25, 2015, and effective March 7, 2015, our chairman of the board was awarded 2,903 time-vested
(2)restricted stock units with a grant date fair value of $105,002. Our other board members were awarded 2,212
time-vested restricted stock units with a grant date fair value of $80,008.

We do not provide our directors with pension benefits. Our director-deferred compensation plan was open for
(3)contributions in 2015, and Messrs. Cooper and Matula, and Ms. Gowland participated. The amounts reported in the

third column reflect the above-market portions of interest earned on compensation deferred in 2015.

Mr. Norton resigned from our board effective February 27, 2015. Mr. Norton's cash payment was prorated for

@) 2015, and he did not receive a 2015 stock award.
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During fiscal year 2015, the compensation committee consisted of Ms. Gowland, and Messrs. Hannah and Matula.
None of our executive officers currently serves, or in the past year has served, as a member of the board of directors or
compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our board of directors or
compensation committee.

2015 Director Fees
Beginning in January 2015, our fee schedule for nonemployee directors was:
Director Fees 2015

Director Fees (Annual):

Cash Retainer (D $ 70,000
Equity Award @ $ 80,008
Committee Chair Fees (Annual):
Audit $ 15,000
Compensation $ 10,000
Corporate Governance and Nominating $ 7,500
Chairman
Additional Cash Retainer $ 90,000
Additional Equity Award $ 25,000

(1) The actual cash retainers were pro-rated for Messrs. Carlile, Cooper, McDougall, and Norton.

On February 25, 2015, the chairman of the board received 2,903 time-vested restricted stock units with a grant date
fair value of $105,002, and each nonemployee director received 2,212 time-vested restricted stock units with a
grant date fair value of $80,008 per award. See note (2) to the Director Compensation Table for additional
information regarding such grants.

2)

2015 Director Restricted Stock Unit Awards

Upon recommendation of the compensation committee, our board of directors approved the granting of a target of
approximately $80,000 in RSUs (or 2,212 units) to each of our nonemployee directors. These 2015 RSU awards are
service-condition vesting awards that vested in full on February 25, 2016, but will not be distributed until six months
and one day following the director’s termination from the board of directors.

2016 Director Fees
The compensation committee and the board engaged Frederic Cook to review compensation for our directors. As a
result of that review, beginning in 2016, the compensation committee and board adopted the following fee schedule

for nonemployee directors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016:
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Director Fees 2016

Director Fees (Annual):

Cash Retainer $ 70,000
Equity Award (D $ 90,000
Committee Chair Fees (Annual):
Audit $ 15,000
Compensation $ 10,000
Corporate Governance and Nominating $ 7,500
Lead Independent Director $ 20,000
Chairman
Additional Cash Retainer $ 90,000
Additional Equity Award @ $ 25,000

(I)On February 24, 2016, each director received 5,435 time-vested restricted stock units with a grant date fair value of
$16.56 per award.

@) As Chairman, Mr. Carlile received an additional $25,000 of time-vested restricted stock units or an additional
1,509 units.

Directors Deferred Compensation Plan

We maintain a "nonqualified" deferred compensation plan offered to our nonemployee directors. The plan is an
unfunded plan intended to help participants supplement their retirement income while providing them an opportunity
to invest a portion of their cash compensation. Under the plan, each director who receives cash compensation for
board service may elect to defer all or a portion of his or her cash compensation in a calendar year. Amounts deferred
are credited with imputed interest at a rate equal to 130% of Moody's Composite Average of Yields on Corporate
Bonds. Participants elect the form and timing of distributions of their deferred compensation balances. Participants
may receive payment in cash in a lump sum or in annual installments following their service on our board of directors.
The plan was closed for contributions in 2013 but was reopened for participation effective January 1, 2014. None of
our directors elected to defer their cash compensation in 2014 under this plan, but Ms. Gowland and Messrs. Matula
and Cooper have elected to defer cash compensation in 2015 under this plan. We do not anticipate making any
changes to this plan in 2016.

STOCK OWNERSHIP

Stock Ownership Guidelines for Our Directors

In February 2014, our board of directors established Company stock ownership guidelines for our directors which are
intended to ensure that our directors acquire and maintain an equity stake in the Company and more closely align their
interests with those of our shareholders.

Our director stock ownership guidelines provide that, within five years from becoming a director, each director should
acquire and maintain stock ownership in the Company equal to five times his or her annual cash retainer. Because the
equity granted to our directors is not actually distributed to them until after they have terminated their service as
directors, each director is required to continue holding all of the RSUs granted to him or her.
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Stock Ownership Guidelines for Our Officers

Our board established officer stock ownership guidelines in February 2014. The ownership targets within the
guidelines vary by officer level with the chief executive officer’s target at three times salary, executive vice presidents’
and senior vice presidents’ target at one-and-one half times salary, and vice presidents’ target at one times salary.
Officers are expected to achieve their respective target within five years of the later of the board’s adoption of the
guidelines or of becoming an officer.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Except as otherwise noted, the following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership
of our common stock as of March 7, 2016 by: (1) each of the named executive officers in the Summary Compensation
Table; (2) each of our directors and director nominees; (3) all directors and executive officers as a group; and (4) each
person or entity known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of our outstanding shares of
common stock. All information with respect to beneficial ownership has been furnished to us by the respective
director, director nominee, executive officer or five percent beneficial owner, as the case may be. Unless otherwise
noted below, the address of each beneficial owner is c/o Boise Cascade Company, 1111 West Jefferson Street, Suite
300, Boise, ID 83702. Unless otherwise indicated, each person or entity named below has sole voting and investment
power with respect to the number of shares set forth opposite his, her or its name.
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Column
A
.. Shares
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Owned
and Nature of Beneficial Ownership as of
3/7/16
#M
Persons Owning Greater Than 5% of Our Outstanding Common
Stock:
BlackRock, Inc. ® 4,135,847
Wellington Management Group LLP 4 3,407,790
The Vanguard Group ©) 2,908,373
Westwood Management Corporation (©) 2,033,857
Nonemployee Directors:
Thomas E. Carlile 45,944
Steven C. Cooper —
Richard H. Fleming 5,000
Karen E. Gowland —
David H. Hannah —
Mack L. Hogans 75
Kristopher J. Matula 1,400
Duane C. McDougall 19,962
Christopher J. McGowan 22,213
Named Executive Officers:
Thomas K. Corrick 22,485
Wayne M. Rancourt 15,175
Daniel Hutchinson 7,319
Nick Stokes 13,759
John T. Sahlberg 12,162
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (15 Persons) 171,576

* Less than 1%

B

Right to Acquire

Within 60 Days

of 3/7/16
#0

20,455
2,212
6,874
4,851
3,044
3,752
3,752
6,874
6,874

5,923
9,872
9,721
5,923
12,590

106,831

(7
®)
©)]
®)
®)
®)
®)
®
®

(10
10
an
10)
an

C

Percent
of
Class
(%)

10.6%
8.8%
7.5%
52%

CE I R S R SR I

* K K K X

Under SEC rules, a person is considered to beneficially own any shares over which they exercise sole or shared
(1) voting and/or investment power (Column A) plus any shares they have the right to acquire within 60 days of March

7,2016 (Column B).

Percent of class (Column C) is calculated by dividing the number of shares beneficially owned (Column A plus
(2)Column B) by the Company's total number of outstanding shares on March 7, 2016 (38,750,173 shares) plus the
number of shares such person has the right to acquire within 60 days of March 7, 2016 (Column B).

Pursuant to Schedule 13G/A, Amendment No. 2, dated December 31, 2015, and filed with the SEC on January 8,
(3)2016, by BlackRock, Inc. (BlackRock). BlackRock's principal business is at 55 East 52nd Street, New York, NY

10055.
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Pursuant to Schedule 13G dated December 31, 2015, and filed with the SEC on February 11, 2016 by Wellington
(4)Management Group LLP (Wellington). Wellington's principal business is at 280 Congress Street, Boston, MA
02210.

Pursuant to Schedule 13G/A, Amendment No. 1, dated December 31, 2015, and filed with the SEC on February
(5)10, 2016, by The Vanguard Group (Vanguard). Vanguard's principal business is at 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern,
PA 19355.

Pursuant to Schedule 13G/A dated December 31, 2015, and filed with the SEC on February 16, 2016, by

©) Westwood
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Management Corporation (Westwood). Westwood's principal business is at 200 Crescent Court, Suite 1200, Dallas,
TX 75201.

Mr. Carlile retired March 6, 2015, and was elected board chairman effective March 7, 2015. Reported amount
includes 17,552 shares issuable upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable

(7)within 60 days after March 7, 2016, as well as 2,903 restricted stock units which vested on February 25, 2016;
provided, that vested shares will be delivered to the subject director six months and one day after his termination as
a director (or other employee) of the Company.

Reported amount includes 2,639, 832, 1,540, and 1,540 restricted stock units which vested on February 27, 2015,
for Ms. Gowland and Messrs. Hannah, Hogans, and Matula, respectively, and 2,212 restricted stock units which

(8)vested on February 25, 2016; provided, that vested shares will be delivered to the subject director six months and
one day after his/her termination as a director (or other employee) of the Company. Mr. Cooper received 2,212
restricted stock units which vested on February 25, 2016.

Reported amount includes 2,023, 2,639, and 2,212 restricted stock units which vested on February 26, 2014,
(9)February 27, 2015, and February 25, 2016, respectively; provided, that vested shares will be delivered to the
subject director six months and one day after his/her termination as a director (or other employee) of the Company.

a 0)Represents shares issuable upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable
within 60 days after March 7, 2016.

Reported amount includes 2,962 and 6,582 shares issuable upon exercise of options that are currently exercisable
or will become exercisable within 60 days after March 7, 2016, for Messrs. Hutchinson and Sahlberg,

(1TD)respectively, as well as 6,759 and 6,008 restricted stock units which vested on March 1, 2016, for Messrs.
Hutchinson and Sahlberg, respectively; provided, that vested shares will be delivered to the subject named
executive officer in two equal tranches on March 1, 2017 and March 1, 2018.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

The following is the report of the audit committee with respect to the Company's audited financial statements for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

Audit Committee Charter and Responsibilities

The audit committee assists the board of directors in its oversight of the quality and integrity of the Company's
financial statements and its accounting and financial reporting practices. The audit committee's responsibilities are
more fully set forth in its charter, which you can view by visiting our website at www.bc.com and selecting Investors
at the bottom of the page, then Leadership and Governance and then Committee Charters. Then select the audit
committee charter.

In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the audit committee reviewed and discussed the Company's annual audited
and quarterly consolidated financial statements for the 2015 calendar year with management and KPMG, the
Company's independent auditor. The audit committee has discussed with KPMG the matters required to be discussed
by the Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended (AICPA, Professional Standards, Vol. 1, AU section
380), as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) in Rule 3200T and as approved by
the SEC. The audit committee has also received the written disclosures and the letter from KPMG required by
PCAOB regarding KPMG's communications with the audit committee concerning independence, and has discussed
with KPMG its independence from the Company and its management.
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Audit Committee Financial Experts

The board of directors has determined that the audit committee chair, Christopher J. McGowan, and both audit
committee members, Richard H. Fleming and Steven C. Cooper, are audit committee financial experts, as defined in
Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act. Our board of directors has also determined that

Mr. McGowan, as well as the other members of the audit committee, are independent in accordance with the
applicable NYSE listing rules.

Recommendation of Financial Statements

Based on the review and discussions with management and KPMG, the audit committee recommended to the
Company's board of directors that the Company's audited financial statements be included in the Company's annual
report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, for filing with the SEC.

Respectfully submitted,

The Audit Committee

Christopher J. McGowan, committee chair

Steven C. Cooper

Richard H. Fleming

Fees Paid to KPMG
The following table presents the aggregate fees billed by KPMG to us for services rendered for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, as approved by the audit committee:

2014 2015
$) 3
Audit Fees (D $1,900,000 $1,930,000
Audit-Related Fees (2 8,000 8,000
Tax Fees 3 141,357 63,005
All Other Fees — —
Total $2,049,357 $2,001,005

KPMG's Audit Fees consisted of fees for the audit of our 2014 and 2015 year-end financial statements included in
(1)the Company's Form 10-K, the 2014 and 2015 audits of our internal control over financial reporting, reviews of our
interim financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and other filings with the SEC.

(2)KPMG's Audit-Related Fees consisted of fees in connection with the issuance of financial assurance letters.

KPMG's tax fees in 2014 and 2015 consisted of support services in connection with the Company's eligibility for
federal and state research and development credits.

3)

Policies and Procedures for Preapproval of Audit and Non-audit Services

The audit committee's charter provides that all audit and non-audit services to be performed for us by KPMG be
preapproved. Our controller monitors services provided by KPMG and overall compliance with the preapproval policy
and reports periodically to the audit committee on the status of outstanding engagements, including actual services
provided and associated fees. Our controller must promptly report any noncompliance with the preapproval policy to
the chair of the audit committee.
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During 2015, all services by our independent registered public accounting firm were preapproved by the audit
committee in accordance with this policy.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

Boise Cascade became a public company on February 6, 2013. Our board of directors adopted the 2013 Incentive Plan
on February 4, 2013, in anticipation of the consummation of our initial public offering. In 2013, 2014, 2015, and
2016, our compensation committee approved all equity grants made under the 2013 Incentive Plan. The table does not
include issuances in 2016 nor give effect to the adoption of the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Number of Securities

Number of . . .
o . Remaining Available
Securities Weighted Average
. . for Future Issuance
to Be Issued Upon Exercise Price .
. . Under Equity
Plan Category Exercise of of Outstanding .
. . Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, Warrants, . .\
. . (Excluding Securities
Options, Warrants, and Rights X .
. Reflected in the First
and Rights
Column)
Equity compensaltlon plans approved 469,001 @ $27.19 3) 2.426.903 @
by stockholders ()
Equity compensation plans not
approved by stockholders
Total 469,001 $27.19 2,426,903

Boise Cascade became a publicly traded company upon its February 6, 2013, initial public offering and,
therefore, falls within the three-year exemption from Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code which is
in place until the 2017 Annual Meeting. The Company is holding a shareholder vote on its 2016 Omnibus
Incentive Plan at the 2016 Annual Meeting.

ey

As of December 31, 2015, the number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants, and
rights consists of 117,282 nonqualified stock options, 177,846 performance stock units (2013 and 2014 PSUs at
actual, 2015 PSUs at target), and 173,873 restricted stock units awarded under the 2013 Incentive Plan. Please see
footnote (4) regarding the actual shares awarded.

2

Applicable only to nonqualified stock options granted in 2013 as the unvested PSUs and RSUs do not have an
exercise price.

3)

The reported amount assumes the 2015 PSUs would be issued at the target amount of grant. The actual 2015 PSUs

“) awarded at the February 24, 2016, meeting was .63 times target.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Committee Report
Dear Fellow Shareholders:

As the compensation committee of the board of directors of Boise Cascade Company (Company), we have reviewed
and discussed the following Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A) required by Item 402(B) of Regulation
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S-K with the Company’s management. Based on this review and discussion, the compensation committee recommends
to the Company’s board of directors that the CD&A be included in this proxy statement and referenced in the
Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.
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Respectfully submitted,

The Compensation Committee
Karen E. Gowland, committee chair
David H. Hannah

Kristopher J. Matula

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This CD&A describes the 2015 compensation program for our executive officers, particularly our Named Executive
Officers who are listed below along with the positions they held with the Company as of December 31, 2015:

Thomas E. Carlile - Chief Executive Officer (January 1, 2015 to March 6, 2015) *
Thomas K. Corrick - Chief Executive Officer (from March 7, 2015)

Wayne M. Rancourt - Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer
Daniel Hutchinson - Executive Vice President, Wood Products

Nick Stokes - Executive Vice President, Building Materials Distribution

John T. Sahlberg - Senior Vice President, Human Resources, General Counsel

and Secretary

*Effective as of March 7, 2015, Mr. Corrick became our chief executive officer.

In this CD&A, we use a number of abbreviations or definitions to describe components of the compensation packages.
While each component is defined again and described in more detail in the following discussions, we are providing
this abbreviation or definition summary to aid in reading our CD&A:

Abbreviation or Definition Full Name

BCPPThe Boise Cascade Pension Plan

Compensation Committee Refers to the Company’s Compensation Committee

BMDThe Company’s Building Materials Distribution business

CD&A Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Company Boise Cascade Company

Forest Products The 2004 purchase by affiliates of Madison Dearborn of the forest products and paper assets

Acquisition from OfficeMax

Frederic Cook Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc., the Compensation Committee’s consultant

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest (income and expenses), Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortization

LTIPLong-Term Incentive Plans

MEPThe 2004 Management Equity Plan

Named Executive Officers The six officers identified in the first paragraph of the CD&A

Officers Executive officers of the Company

PRONWCPre-tax Return On Net Working Capital

PSUsPerformance Stock Units granted under the 2013 Incentive Plan

ROICReturn on Invested Capital

RSUsRestricted Stock Units granted under the 2013 Incentive Plan

STIPThe Short-Term Incentive Plan

Cash-Based LTIP The cash-based, Long-Term Incentive Plan in effect through 2012
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SERPThe frozen, non-qualified Supplemental Early Retirement Plan
SPP Salaried Pension Plan
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SUPPThe frozen, non-qualified Supplemental Pension Plan

Wood Products The Company’s Wood Products manufacturing business

2013 Incentive  Boise Cascade Company 2013 Incentive Compensation Plan, adopted in connection with the
Plan Company’s initial public offering

2016 Incentive ~ The 2016 Boise Cascade Omnibus Incentive Plan proposed for shareholder approval at the 2016
Plan Annual Meeting

Our Compensation Objectives and Philosophy

We want to attract, retain, and incent the management talent we believe is essential to achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, which are to grow the Company prudently and to increase long-term shareholder value. As a
guiding philosophy, we target all forms of compensation at the 50t percentile of comparable market compensation
data, taking into account each person’s performance, contributions to the Company’s success, level of experience, and
other distinguishing characteristics. In some instances and for the purpose of internal equity, we have established
similar compensation ranges for officer positions with similar scopes of responsibility and other similar characteristics
even if such ranges may differ from comparable positions in other companies.

As a newly public company, 2014 was the first year that we had nonbinding advisory shareholder votes on executive
compensation. The first vote was on the frequency of holding an advisory approval of our executive compensation,
and the shareholders advised a preference for an annual vote. At the July 2014 board meeting, the board agreed to an
annual vote on "say-on-pay." The Board also submitted a second advisory vote on whether to approve our executive
compensation as set out in the 2015 proxy. In 2015, shareholders approved our executive compensation with over
98% voting in favor. The Compensation Committee and the board intend to continue to take these advisory votes into
account regarding future compensation decisions. For 2016, shareholders will again vote on whether to approve our
executive compensation as set out in this document.

Use of Market Data to Determine Amount and Allocation of Compensation

The Compensation Committee believes that an important criterion for the determination of the aggregate value of the
Company's compensation program and the allocation of the value among the various elements of its compensation
plans is market data, where available, on the amounts, allocations, and structures utilized by similarly situated peer
companies for positions of comparable responsibility.

Management and the Compensation Committee have utilized compensation and benefits surveys to ascertain market
levels of aggregate compensation and the allocation of that compensation among specific compensation elements for
its Named Executive Officers. Aggregate compensation and compensation for each of the major elements (base salary,
short-term incentive compensation, and long-term incentive compensation) for the Company's Named Executive
Officers has generally been targeted at the 50th percentile of the surveyed companies. However, the specific aggregate
compensation (and the allocation among the elements of the total compensation) paid to any of our Named Executive
Officers may be below or above the 50t percentile target levels, depending on subjective judgments made by the
Compensation Committee based on factors such as the specific officer's tenure with the Company and in his position,
responsibilities that vary from the benchmark position, historical performance in the job, and other distinguishing
characteristics.

Since 2011, the Compensation Committee has retained periodically the services of Frederic Cook, a compensation
consultant, to prepare a comprehensive analysis of the compensation packages for our Named Executive Officers and
to compare the specific elements of compensation and the aggregate value with a group of peer companies
recommended by the consultant.
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When the Company became a public company in February 2013, the Compensation Committee asked Frederic Cook
to recommend a structure for a new, equity-based, long-term incentive plan and to recommend appropriate incentive
levels under the plan for our Named Executive Officers. Frederic Cook recommended peer companies for comparison
which the Compensation Committee approved.

In 2014, the Compensation Committee asked Frederic Cook to prepare an independent, comprehensive analysis for
our Named Executive Officers' compensation, and to compare the specific elements of compensation and the
aggregate value with a group of peer companies recommended by the consultant. The Compensation Committee also
asked Frederic Cook to consider whether the Canadian companies in the prior peer group were appropriate given the
significant difference in executive compensation, particularly long-term incentives.

In November 2014, Frederic Cook recommended modifying the peer group by removing the Canadian-based
companies (Ainsworth Lumber Company, CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd., Canfor Corporation, International
Forest Products Corporation, Norbord Ltd., Tembec Inc. and West Fraser Timber Co. Ltd.) and one U.S.-based
company that did not appear to be as strong of a match (Associated Materials Incorporated). Frederic Cook suggested
adding Armstrong World Industries Inc.; Gibraltar Industries; Lennox International; NCI Building Systems, Inc.;
Quanex Building Products Corporation; A.O. Smith Corporation, and USG Corporation. Thus, the peer group,
approved by the Compensation Committee in 2014, consisted of:

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. NCI Building Systems, Inc.

Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc. Nortek, Inc.

BlueLinx, Inc. Quanex Building Products Corporation
Builders FirstSource, Inc. Simpson Manufacturing Company, Inc.
Eagle Materials, Inc. A.O. Smith Corporation

Gibraltar Industries Universal Forest Products, Inc.

Lennox International USG Corporation

Louisiana-Pacific Corporation

Frederic Cook concluded that material increases had occurred in the median competitive benchmarks and that the
Company lagged its targeted 50th percentile pay philosophy. While part of the change was due to dropping the
Canadian companies from the peer group, Frederic Cook found material year-over-year compensation increases at
many Company peers that were in the group both years. The Compensation Committee considered Frederic Cook's
findings when adjusting Named Executive Officer salaries in November 2014 and in adjusting incentive targets in
February 2015. Based on both, the Compensation Committee adopted an approach to move our Named Executive
Officers toward the 50th percentile over a two-year period.

In July 2015, Frederic Cook reviewed the peer companies with our Compensation Committee and recommended no
change to the peer group. The Compensation Committee agreed with the recommendation and asked Frederic Cook:

to structure an Omnibus Incentive Plan for potential shareholder adoption at the 2016 or 2017 Annual Meeting due
to the IRS' recent interpretation of Section 162(m) regarding the tax deductibility of RSUs and PSUs for companies,
like us, that have an approximately three-year window from our initial public offering to obtain shareholder
approval of the incentive plan;

to design a new long-term incentive plan for our executive officers with a different performance metric than
EBITDA (the performance metric used in our short-term incentive plans and long-term incentive plans); and

1y

2)
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3)to determine how Company executive officer pay compared to that of similar positions in the peer companies.
Changes in 2016

In 2015, Frederic Cook introduced a long-term incentive concept for executive officers using annual return on
invested capital (ROIC) as its performance metric and moving to three-year, cliff vesting for earned performance units
rather than pro rata vesting over three years. Frederic Cook noted that the vesting change would create two transition
years in which targeted PSU payments would significantly decrease due to the new design and at the Compensation
Committee's request designed a transition plan to keep officers whole through the transition. Specific salary increases
for each executive officer were also effective in November 2015. The Compensation Committee approved the concept
for the new long-term incentive design and the salary increases for executive officers.

In January 2016, Frederic Cook presented a new long-term incentive plan design. The recommended design allocates
50% of the value of the long-term incentive to time-vested RSUs that vest 33% each year over three years and 50% of
the value to PSUs that are based on one-year ROIC performance that cliff vest after three years to tie the delivered
PSU value to long-term share performance and to align participants' interests with those of shareholders. The
Compensation Committee chose ROIC as the performance metric to differentiate from the EBITDA measure used in
the STIP and because it believed that ROIC would put a focus on short-term and long-term investments and reinforce
the importance of investor returns.

The Compensation Committee also determined to grant a transitional award to the executive officers because moving
from a one-third annual payout to a full payout after three years would create a shortfall in target-delivered PSU value
of 33% in 2017 and 67% in 2018. The Compensation Committee's objective was to keep executive officers whole
during the transition and, therefore, awarded an additional PSU transitional award of approximately one year of PSU
target grant date fair value payable, if earned, 33% in 2017 and 67% in 2018. The transition PSUs use the same goals
as the 2016 PSUs.

Frederic Cook also presented a 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan at the request of the Compensation Committee. The
Compensation Committee adopted and recommended the plan for shareholders' approval. A full copy of the 2016
Omnibus Incentive Plan is at the end of this proxy as Appendix A.

At its January 2016 meeting, the Compensation Committee also adopted a hedging policy to prohibit all participants
in our LTIP from using any financial instruments to hedge against a drop in our stock price. The Compensation
Committee also approved and recommended to the board the adoption of a clawback policy whereby any participant
in our incentive plans is subject to having all or part of any future incentive clawed back if the participant was
involved in intentional misconduct that led to a restatement of earnings that would also have resulted in a lower
incentive payout for the participant. Since becoming a public company in 2013, the Company's LTI grants have
contained a provision allowing for a clawback either adopted by the Company or a regulatory body so this policy
applies to all current, outstanding grants. The board adopted the new policy at its February 24, 2016 meeting.

Summary of Key Events Affecting our Named Executive Officers in 2015

2015 was a year of transitional leadership for the Company with a new chief executive officer and with a new
executive vice president in our Wood Products business and, consequently, a change in one of our Named Executive
Officers from 2014.

In February 2015, the Compensation Committee, in consultation with Frederic Cook, chose to again grant 50% of the
2015 long-term incentive grant value in RSUs and 50% in PSUs. The Compensation Committee also increased the
target awards to be closer to the peer group median. Those target awards
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are discussed under the section LTIPs at page 54. At that same time, the Compensation Committee increased Mr.
Corrick's salary to reflect his promotion to chief executive officer and increased Mr. Hutchinson's salary to reflect his
promotion to executive vice president. At the July 2015 meeting, the Compensation Committee reviewed the advisory
vote on Named Executive Officer compensation and decided to engage Frederic Cook to undertake a review of
comparative executive compensation for the Company’s management team.

Executive Compensation Program Elements

The five elements of the Company's executive compensation program are:
Base salary;

STIP;

Ad hoc discretionary bonus awards;

LTIPs (the 2013 Incentive Plan and the proposed 2016 Incentive Plan); and
Other compensation and benefit plans.

Role of Management in Setting Executive and Director Compensation

As described below, the Compensation Committee increased the compensation of certain executives in 2015.
Management did not participate in that decision. The Company's chief executive officer makes recommendations to
the Compensation Committee with respect to base salaries and performance targets for the Company's STIP and LTIP.
The Compensation Committee makes all decisions regarding each Named Executive Officer’s base salary, LTIP and
STIP targets, the overall performance targets of the plans, and the potential and actual payouts under each plan.
Management does not participate in setting director compensation.

Base Salary

Our Compensation Committee has historically reviewed base salaries for our Named Executive Officers on an annual
basis and at the time of promotions or other changes in responsibilities. In November 2014, the Compensation
Committee approved a general wage increase for our Named Executive Officers based upon Frederic Cook's 2014
study. Mr. Corrick's salary increase at this time was also in recognition of his being named chief operating officer in
November 2014. In February 2015, the Compensation Committee approved increases for Mr. Corrick for his
promotion to chief executive officer and to Mr. Hutchinson for his promotion to executive vice president Wood
Products. In November 2015, the Compensation Committee approved general wage increases for the Named
Executive Officers to continue to move them, as determined appropriate, toward the 50th percentile. All of the 2014
and 2015 changes in executive salaries were in line with market data provided by Frederic Cook. The salaries for our
Named Executive Officers over the last three years can be found in the Summary Compensation Table.

STIP

The STIP is designed to recognize and reward the contributions that Named Executive Officers and other participants
make to the Company's annual performance. For 2014, 2015, and 2016, the STIP fell under Article IX of the 2013
Incentive Plan discussed below on page 54. For 2017, the STIP will fall under the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan if
approved. Payout of the STIP is based on achievement of performance measures that are tied to the Company's annual
financial performance. We offer this plan to encourage and reward conduct that will lead to better performance of our
businesses as measured by the performance criteria. Each Named Executive Officer’s participation in the plan, along
with the criteria for
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calculation of the payout, is established annually by action of our Compensation Committee and communicated to the
participants in an STIP award notice. A determination of the amount payable under the plan based on actual
performance is made by the Compensation Committee generally in February of the following year, and resulting
payments or awards are made to participants.

2015 STIP Compensation

For 2015, each of our Named Executive Officers participated in the STIP. The plan provided for awards to be
determined based on the extent to which the financial goals and performance objectives were met during the year, and
on the exercise of the Compensation Committee's discretion. The 2015 annual incentive award targets for our Named

Executive Officers were as follows:

Target Award as a Percentage

Officer of Base Salary
Thomas E. Carlile 100%
Thomas K. Corrick 100%

Wayne M. Rancourt 75%

Nick Stokes 75%

Daniel Hutchinson 75%

John T. Sahlberg 65%

The actual awards may be less than or greater than the target incentive amounts depending on the achievement of
pre-determined financial goals and performance objectives and the exercise of the Compensation Committee's
discretion. For 2015, the Compensation Committee set a threshold of 25% of the target award as the minimum award
to be granted under the program. The Compensation Committee also set a maximum of 225% of the target award
based on financial goals for 2015 and approved a payout graph with a payout line whereby once the level of
performance is determined the award multiplier can be determined. The dollar amount of the threshold, target, and
maximum award payable to each of our Named Executive Officers is set out in the table found under "Grants of
Plan-Based Awards" in this section of this proxy statement. For 2015, EBITDA for Wood Products, when taking into
account the amount needed to pay at the minimum, fell short of the board-set minimum ($110 million) due to a large
drop in the commodity prices of plywood and lumber and strategic curtailments of company manufacturing facilities
to balance orders and supply. If the amount reserved for the minimum STIP payout was removed, the performance
threshold for the minimum payout was achieved. The Compensation Committee determined that with the EBITDA
numbers falling into the gap that not awarding an incentive under these unusual circumstances was not in the best
interest of shareholders because the Wood Products management team had performed strongly which was not
reflected in results due to the commodity price drops caused by a strong dollar and the sharp increase in commodity
imports. Consequently, the Compensation Committee chose to award a short-term incentive award at .24 times target,
just below the plan minimum for Wood Products STIP participants, except for Mr. Hutchinson. Instead, the
Compensation Committee awarded Mr. Hutchinson a discretionary cash bonus equivalent to what a .24 STIP payout
to him would have been ($48,288). That bonus is reflected under the "Bonus" column of the Summary Compensation
Table.
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The annual financial goals required for each of our Named Executive Officers under our 2015 STIP increased over
2014 and were as follows:
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Requirement Requirement Requirement
Officer For For For Maximum
Financial Threshold Payment Target Payment Payment
Criteria ) @) $or % $or % $or %
(in millions, except PRONWC)
Thomas E. Carlile 100% Corporate EBITDA $125 $215 $310
Thomas K. Corrick 100% Corporate EBITDA $125 $215 $310
Wayne M. Rancourt  100% Corporate EBITDA $125 $215 $310
Nick Stokes 25% Corporate EBITDA $125 $215 $310
37.5% BMD EBITDA $40 $75 $110
37.5% BMD PRONWC 11.0 9%24.3 %37.0 %
Daniel Hutchinson 25% Corporate EBITDA $125 $215 $310
75% Wood Products EBITDA $110 $168 $230
John T. Sahlberg 100% Corporate EBITDA $125 $215 $310

(I)EBITDA may be adjusted in each case for special items. For 2015, $1.6 million in acquisition costs for Wood
Products were excluded.
Pre-tax Return On Net Working Capital (PRONWC) is calculated by dividing Building Materials Distribution’s
(BMD’s) net operating income by the average net working capital reported as of each month-end during a 13-month
period running from December 2014 through December 2015, adjusted in each case for special items. The
Compensation Committee believes that EBITDA adjusted for special items is an appropriate measure because it
represents a financial measure that closely approximates the value delivered by management to the Company's
(2)shareholders and is a key measure of performance frequently used by the Company's debt holders. The
Compensation Committee includes PRONWC as a portion of Mr. Stokes' performance criteria because it reflects
BMD’s control of working capital, which is a critical financial measure in our distribution business. In 2015, the
Corporate EBITDA, BMD EBITDA, and Wood Products EBITDA were $160 million ($158.5 million plus $1.5
million in disregarded transaction expenses), $73 million, and $109 million, respectively, resulting in aggregate
payments to each of our Named Executive Officers ranging from .14 to .97 times target under the STIP for 2015.

At the board meeting in February 2016, our Compensation Committee confirmed the payment to each of our Named
Executive Officers of an STIP award for 2015 that was calculated in accordance with the plan's metrics. The specific

amounts approved by the committee for payment to each of the Named Executive Officers pursuant to the 2015 plan
are reported in the column titled Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation in the Summary Compensation Table.

2016 STIP Compensation
At the board meeting in February 2016, both the board and the Compensation Committee approved details of the
Company's 2016 STIP. No changes were made to the plan document or the methods for calculating the financial

criteria to be used in determining each Named Executive Officer's award under the plan.

2015 Ad Hoc Discretionary Bonus Awards
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From time to time, the Compensation Committee may elect to grant a discretionary bonus to one or more of the
Named Executive Officers or to other employees to recognize and reward exemplary performance providing value to
the Company beyond what is recognized by the structure of the Company's STIP. These bonus payments are not
governed by any formal plan, and no Named Executive Officer has any contractual entitlement or expectation of any
such payment. The amount and timing of the grant of any such bonus to Named Executive Officers are determined by
the Compensation Committee at its sole
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discretion. Mr. Hutchinson received an ad hoc discretionary bonus in 2015 of $48,288 as described above and which
is reflected in the "Bonus" column of the Summary Compensation Table.

LTIPs (2013 Incentive Plan)

The Boise Cascade Company board of directors approved the 2013 Incentive Plan in connection with our initial public
offering as further discussed under "2013 Incentive Plan" in "Executive Compensation.” The plan was designed to
align executive and shareholder or owner interests and to drive long-term business results.

The 2013 Incentive Plan
We made equity grants to certain of our directors and executive officers in 2013, 2014, and 2015. This section first
discusses the 2013 Incentive Plan generally and then discusses the related 2015 equity grants.

The 2013 Incentive Plan provides for grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, other
stock-based awards, other cash-based compensation, and performance awards. Directors, officers, and other
employees, as well as others performing consulting or advisory services are eligible for grants under the 2013
Incentive Plan. The purpose of the 2013 Incentive Plan is to provide incentives that will attract, retain, and motivate
high-performing officers, directors, employees, and consultants by providing them a proprietary interest in our
long-term success or compensation based on their performance in fulfilling their responsibilities to our Company.

The 2013 Incentive Plan is administered by our Compensation Committee as designated by our board of directors.
Among the Compensation Committee's powers are to (i) determine the form, amount, and other terms and conditions
of short-term and long-term awards; (ii) construe or interpret any provision of the 2013 Incentive Plan or any award
agreement; (iii) amend the terms of outstanding awards; and (iv) adopt such rules, guidelines, and practices for
administering the 2013 Incentive Plan as it deems advisable. The Compensation Committee has full authority to
administer and interpret the 2013 Incentive Plan, to grant discretionary awards under the 2013 Incentive Plan, to
determine the persons to whom awards will be granted, to determine the types of awards to be granted, to determine
the terms and conditions of each award, to determine the number of shares of common stock to be covered by each
award, to make all other determinations in connection with the 2013 Incentive Plan and the awards thereunder as the
Compensation Committee deems necessary or desirable, and to delegate authority under the 2013 Incentive Plan to
our executive officers. The aggregate number of shares of Company common stock which may be issued or used for
reference purposes under the 2013 Incentive Plan or with respect to which awards may be granted may not exceed 3.1
million shares and as of the end of 2015, approximately 2.4 million shares remained available.

The 2013 Incentive Plan provides that awards granted under the Plan are subject to any recoupment policy we may
have, including the clawback of "incentive-based compensation" under the Exchange Act or under any applicable
rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC. This summary does not include all of the provisions of the 2013
Incentive Plan. For further information about the 2013 Incentive Plan, we refer you to the complete copy of the 2013
Incentive Plan, which we incorporated by reference as an exhibit in "Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules" to our 2015 Form 10-K.

At the February 2015 board meeting, both the Compensation Committee and the board of directors approved equity
grants under the 2013 Incentive Plan. The amount and structure of the grants were based on a study conducted by
Frederic Cook and the recommendations Frederic Cook made as a result of the study. Officer participants under the
plan received two types of grants: RSUs and PSUs.

For 2015, Frederic Cook recommended and the Compensation Committee continued to set a dollar target rather than a
percentage-of-salary target to facilitate the calculation of the RSU and PSU grants on the
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day of the award after market close. The following targets for the combined grants were set for our Named Executive

Officers:

. Dollar Value of
Officer Target Award
Thomas E. Carlile (D —

Thomas K. Corrick $1,500,000
Wayne M. Rancourt $450,000
Nick Stokes $450,000
Daniel Hutchinson $450,000
John T. Sahlberg $400,000

(1)Mr. Carlile's retirement was scheduled for March 6, 2015, and he was not awarded any LTL

Half of the value of the target award was granted in RSUs with a grant date fair value of $36.17, the closing price of
our publicly traded stock on February 25, 2015. The RSUs awarded vest over a three-year period with one-third
vesting on March 1 for 2016, 2017, and 2018, with share distribution the following day.

Officer RSU Shares
Thomas E. Carlile (D —

Thomas K. Corrick 20,735
Wayne M. Rancourt 6,221

Nick Stokes 6,221
Daniel Hutchinson 6,221

John T. Sahlberg 5,529

(1)Mr. Carlile's retirement was scheduled for March 6, 2015, and he was not awarded any LTL

The other half of the target award was made in target PSUs with a grant date fair value of $36.17, the closing price of

our publicly traded stock on February 25, 2015.

Officer PSU Target Shares
Thomas E. Carlile (D —

Thomas K. Corrick 20,735

Wayne M. Rancourt 6,221

Nick Stokes 6,221

Daniel Hutchinson 6,221

John T. Sahlberg 5,529

(1)Mr. Carlile's retirement was scheduled for March 6, 2015, and he was not awarded any LTL

The PSUs awarded are earned based on a one-year EBITDA performance established in the same manner as for our
2014 PSU awards. If EBITDA is below the threshold noted below, no PSUs are earned. At the threshold, 50% of the
PSUs are earned and at the maximum 200% of the PSUs are earned. The Compensation Committee approved an
award graph so that at any level between the threshold and maximum the Compensation Committee can determine the
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actual PSUs to be awarded. The actual
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amount of each award, based on the Company’s EBITDA for fiscal year 2015, was determined by our board of
directors on February 24, 2016.

The annual financial goals required for each of our Named Executive Officers with respect to their 2015 PSU grants
under our 2013 Incentive Plan were as follows:

Requirement Requirement
. Financial d For Requirement
Officer o For .
Criteria Threshold PSUs Target PSUs For Maximum
(in millions) PSU
Thomas E. Carlile () — — — —
Thomas K. Corrick ~ 100% Corporate EBITDA $140 $220 $300
Wayne M. Rancourt 100% Corporate EBITDA 140 220 300
Nick Stokes 100% Corporate EBITDA 140 220 300
Daniel Hutchinson 100% Corporate EBITDA 140 220 300
John T. Sahlberg 100% Corporate EBITDA 140 220 300

(1)Mr. Carlile's retirement was scheduled for March 6, 2015, and he was not awarded any LTL
Other Compensation and Benefit Plans

The Company's Named Executive Officers receive additional compensation under various other compensation and
benefit plans. These plans and benefits, except those that are frozen, are provided to ensure that we are providing an
aggregate compensation and benefits package that is competitive in the marketplace, thereby ensuring that we can
attract and retain the management talent needed to achieve the Company's strategic objectives.

Boise Cascade Pension Plan

Effective December 31, 2009, the Compensation Committee froze the pension benefit for all of our salaried
employees including our Named Executive Officers. The frozen benefit is now in the Boise Cascade Pension Plan
(BCPP). On December 31, 2009, the Compensation Committee also froze our supplemental pension plans in which all
of our Named Executive Officers participate. Since December 31, 2009, none of our Named Executive Officers has
earned any additional pension benefit.

The BCPP entitles each vested employee to receive an annual pension benefit at normal retirement age as determined
by a formula involving the average of the highest five consecutive years of the employee’s compensation out of the last
10 years of employment through December 31, 2009 (Average High Five) times an annual factor for each year of
service. Under the BCPP, "compensation" is defined as the employee's taxable base salary plus any taxable amounts
earned under our annual variable incentive compensation programs. For each year of service prior to December 31,
2003, the annual factor is equal to 1.25%, and for each year of service from January 1, 2004 through December 31,
2009, the annual factor is equal to 1%. The value of the pension benefit is determined by adding the products of: 1)

the Average High Five times the number of years of service prior to December 31, 2003, times 1.25% and; 2) the
Average High Five times the number of years of service between January 1, 2004 and December 31, 2009, times 1%.
Under this formula, benefits are computed on a straight line annuity basis and are not offset by Social Security or other
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retirement benefits. An employee is 100% vested in the pension benefit after five years of unbroken service. As noted
previously, the Compensation Committee froze the
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Company's salaried pension plans effective December 31, 2009, and no further benefits have been earned by salaried
employees including our Named Executive Offices since that date.

The Supplemental Pension Plan

While the pension plan was in effect, if an employee earned income in excess of the limits provided under the Internal
Revenue Code for qualified plans, or if income was deferred under the Company's deferred compensation plan and not
taxed (and, therefore, not counted for purposes of the benefit amount calculation under the qualified BCPP), the
additional benefits were accrued and will be paid from the Company's general assets under our unfunded, nonqualified
Supplemental Pension Plan (SUPP). Because the benefit definition in the SUPP is derivative of that contained in the
BCPP described above, the benefit freeze adopted for the qualified plan at year—end 2009 effected a similar freeze in
further benefit accruals under the SUPP as of the same date. All of our Named Executive Officers have a benefit under
the SUPP.

The Supplemental Early Retirement Plan

Under our unfunded, non-qualified Supplemental Early Retirement Plan (SERP), an officer is eligible for benefits
under the plan if the officer: (i) was an officer of OfficeMax immediately prior to the 2004 Forest Products
Acquisition; (ii) is 55 years old or older (or 58 years old or older for officers elected on or after June 1, 2004, and
before October 29, 2004); (iii) has ten or more years of service; (iv) has served as an officer for at least five full years;
and (v) retires before the age of 65 (or in certain cases age 62). Eligible officers retiring prior to age 65 receive an
early retirement benefit from the SERP which, in combination with their benefit under the BCPP and the SUPP,
equals the benefit calculated under the BCPP and the SUPP without reduction due to the officer's early retirement.
Because the benefit definition in the SERP is derivative of that contained in the BCPP described above, the benefit
freeze adopted for the pension at year-end 2009 effected a similar freeze in further benefit accruals under the SERP.
Benefits payable under the SERP are offset in part by benefits payable under a similar plan maintained by OfficeMax.
Mr. Rancourt will become eligible for benefits under the SERP when he reaches age 58 and Mr. Stokes is now eligible
under the SERP. Messrs. Corrick, Hutchinson, and Sahlberg do not participate in the SERP.

The Present Value of Pension Benefits

The aggregate, present value of pension defined benefits as of December 31, 2015, for each of our Named Executive
Officers under each plan are disclosed in the table found under the heading "Pension Benefits" of this CD&A.
Changes in the present value for the pension benefits for each Named Executive Officer are disclosed in footnote 6 to
the "Summary Compensation Table."

The Boise Cascade Company Savings Plan

The Company maintains a 401(k) defined-contribution savings plan for all of its U.S. salaried employees, including its
Named Executive Officers. Under the plan, eligible employees electing to participate may contribute up to 50% of
their pretax income, subject to Internal Revenue Service (IRS) rules limiting an individual's total contributions and the
application of IRS tests designed to ensure that the plan does not discriminate in favor of highly compensated
employees.

Since January 2013, the Company has provided a contribution to each salaried employee's 401(k) account for each
pay period in an amount equal to 4% of the employee's eligible wages (base salary and short—term incentive
compensation) for the period. If the Company's EBITDA met or exceeded targets specified by the Compensation
Committee and the board of directors, the Company could make additional discretionary contributions in an amount
equal to up to 2%, 3%, or 4% of the employee's wages, depending on the affected employee's number of years of
service. For 2015, the Compensation Committee and the board divided the discretionary contribution percentages
evenly between two EBITDA
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targets ($175 million and $230 million). The Company did not achieve either target and, consequently, in January
2016 no payout occurred. Amounts in excess of IRS annual limitations on the amount of income on which Company
contributions may be made to qualified defined contribution retirement plans are paid to participants as taxable cash
compensation. All of our Named Executive Officers participate in the plan.

Amounts deferred under this plan by Named Executive Officers are included in the salary disclosure in the "Summary
Compensation Table," and amounts contributed by the Company to the account of a Named Executive Officer under
the plan are included in the "All Other Compensation" disclosure in the "Summary Compensation Table."

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan

Our Deferred Compensation Plan is an unfunded, nonqualified, defined contribution plan that was reopened for
participation effective January 1, 2014. Under the deferred compensation plan, participating employees irrevocably
elect each year to defer receipt of a portion of their base salary and incentive compensation. A participant's account is
credited with an amount equal to what the Company's 401(k) contribution would have been if the money had not been
deferred and with imputed interest at a rate equal to 130% of Moody's Composite Average of Yields on Corporate
Bonds. Participants may receive payment of their deferred compensation plan balance in a lump sum or in monthly
installments over a specified period of years following the termination of their employment with the Company. Each
of our Named Executive Officers is a participant in our Deferred Compensation Plan. Amounts deferred under this
plan in any relevant year or contributed to the account under the plan by any of our Named Executive Officers are
disclosed in the "Summary Compensation Table."

Agreements with Named Executive Officers

The Company does not have employment agreements with any of its Named Executive Officers other than the limited
agreements described in this section. Upon Mr. Carlile's March 6, 2015 retirement, his severance agreement expired.

Severance Agreements with Messrs. Corrick, Rancourt, Stokes, Hutchinson, and Sahlberg

The Company entered into severance agreements with each of the Named Executive Officers (except Mr. Hutchinson)
in February 2008 to maintain operating continuity in the event of a change of control. The severance agreements are
effective for three years, but unless the Company gives notice 60 days prior to the second anniversary or each
anniversary thereafter, the term of each severance agreement will be automatically extended for an additional year.
Notice was not given prior to the anniversary date in February 2016. Accordingly, the term of such agreements has
now been extended to February 22, 2018. The Company entered into revised severance agreements with each of its
Named Executive Officers in December 2012 solely to bring the agreements into technical compliance with Internal
Revenue Code Section 409A and into an agreement in 2014 with Mr. Hutchinson due to his promotion.

The severance agreements provide that in the event of a "qualifying termination" (meaning any termination with the
exception of a termination (i) by the Company for cause or disability; (ii) by the employee other than for good reason
(as described in the severance agreement); or (iii) as a result of the employee's death), an employee will be entitled to
receive (a) his or her full base salary through the date of termination, a STIP payment for the year of termination based
on the plan's actual payout for the year and pro-rated to reflect the portion of the year expired, and all other
compensation to which he or she is then entitled; (b) a lump—sum severance payment equal to two times the sum of the
employee's annual base salary plus target STIP for the year in which the termination occurs; and (c) a lump—sum
amount equal to the value of such employee's unused and accrued time off, less any advanced time off, in accordance
with the applicable time-off policy in effect on the termination date. Additionally, the

93



58

Edgar Filing: BOISE CASCADE Co - Form PRE 14A

94



Edgar Filing: BOISE CASCADE Co - Form PRE 14A

severance agreements provide, in the event of a qualifying termination, for full maintenance of healthcare and
insurance benefits for a period of 12 or 18 months following the termination date (subject to payment of required
contributions), payment of the premium under the Company's Supplemental Life Plan for 12 or 24 months following
the termination date, and if applicable, receipt of the monthly benefit that such employee would have been entitled to
receive under the SERP as if such employee had satisfied the age and service requirements under the SERP as of his
or her termination date. The higher levels of severance benefits are generally reserved for those officers at the level of
senior vice president and higher, which includes all of our Named Executive Officers.

The severance agreements provide that in the event of a non-qualifying termination, the employee will be entitled to
receive his or her full base salary through the date of termination, plus all other compensation to which he is then
entitled. In the event of a failure to perform duties as a result of incapacity due to physical or mental illness or injury,
the employee will be entitled to continue to receive the full base salary until such time as employment is terminated
due to disability. No severance payments or continuation of healthcare benefits beyond the date of termination are
provided for under such circumstances.

In consideration of the severance payments described above, each severance agreement contains confidentiality and
non-solicitation provisions, and a general release of all claims against the Company and its affiliates, as a condition of
payment of benefits under the severance agreement.

Salaried Employee Life Insurance Plan and Officers' Supplemental Life Plan

The Company maintains two plans under which Company-paid life insurance is made available to its officers. Under
its Salaried Employee Life Insurance Plan, the Company provides, at its expense during each salaried employee's
period of employment, life insurance in an amount equal to the employee's base salary. Messrs. Corrick, Hutchinson,
Rancourt, and Sahlberg participate in this plan.

Mr. Stokes participates in our Officers' Supplemental Life Plan, under which a Company—paid life insurance benefit
during employment is provided in an amount equal to two times the Officer's base salary.

Amounts paid by the Company for the coverage provided to each of our Named Executive Officers is reported in the
column titled "All Other Compensation” in the "Summary Compensation Table."

Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents compensation information for Messrs. Carlile, Corrick, Rancourt, Stokes, Hutchinson,

and Sahlberg for 2015, 2014, and 2013:
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Name and
Principal Position

Salary
ear $)2

Thomas E. Carlile 2015 $190,385
Chief Executive 2014 850,000
Officer 2013 807,000

Thomas K. Corrick
(D

Chief Executive
Officer and former
Chief Operating
Officer

2015 701,923
2014 407,000

Wayne M. Rancourt2015 452,308
Executive Vice 2014 438,000
President, Chief
Financial

Officer & Treasurer

2013 419,000

Nick Stokes (D
Executive Vice
President, Building
Materials
Distribution

2015 427,308
2014 394,000

Daniel Hutchinson
1

Executive Vice
President, Wood
Products

2015 357,692

John T. Sahlberg
Senior Vice
President, Human
Resources, General
Counsel &
Secretary

2015 404,615
2014 356,000

2013 323,000

Stock  Option
Awards Awards

®H ($HP

Bonus
$H@

$— $—
1,030,516—
439,085 391,482 —

$—

1,222,475—
286,251

366,772
343,465

164,670 146,797

366,772
343,465

366,772 48,288

325,974
286,251

109,771 97,874

Non-Equity
Incentive
Plan
Compensatio

$®

$102,808
1,600,000
1,594,000

379,038
459,513

183,185
424,725

430,650

310,065
359,791

36,216

142,020
374,400

336,325

Change in

Pension

Valueand sy opper

Nonqualified Compensation
Deferred ($)(7E) ($)

Compensation

Earnings

($)©

$5,463 $95,375 $394,031

303,149 1,888,558 5,672,223

9,629 153,564 3,394,760

14,652 58,133 2,376,221

272,690 42,374 1,467,828

5,940 47,513 1,055,718

251,184 46,185 1,503,559

5,191 47,594 1,213,902

5,033 52,473 1,161,651

256,864 42,286 1,396,406

14,839 32,225 856,032

11,076 41,355 925,040

219,016 38,163 1,273,830

7,390 37,232 911,592

(1)Messrs. Corrick and Stokes became Named Executive Officers in 2014. They were not Named Executive Officers
in 2013. Mr. Corrick became our chief operating officer in November 2014 and became our chief executive officer
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effective March 7, 2015, in connection with Mr. Carlile's retirement from the same position. Mr. Hutchinson
became a Named Executive Officer in 2015.

(2)Includes amounts deferred under our savings plan. See "Boise Cascade Company Savings Plan" under "Other
Compensation and Benefit Plans" in the "CD&A" in this proxy.
Includes the total value of the RSU and PSU awards granted in 2014 and 2015, and for 2013 includes the total
value of the nonqualified stock option and PSU awards granted in 2013 (although for all years the grants generally
vest ratably over three years). The grant date value for the 2014 RSU awards is $30.32 and for the 2015 RSU is
$36.17, and for each option share granted in 2013 is $14.87, using the Black Scholes Option Valuation Model. The
(3)PSUs are valued at their grant date fair value times the actual number of PSUs earned based on the Company's
EBITDA performance for each year. The 2013 PSUs are valued at $26.65 grant date fair value at 1.12 times target.
The 2014 PSUs are valued at $30.32 grant date fair value at 1.29 times target. The 2015 PSUs are valued at $36.17
grant date fair value. With EBITDA of $160 million, the 2015 PSUs were awarded by the Compensation
Committee on February 24, 2016 at .63 times target.

( 4)This column represents discretionary bonuses made by the Compensation Committee. As explained previously in
the CD&A, the Compensation Committee awarded Mr. Hutchinson a discretionary bonus.

Represents total of payment of awards under our STIP for each year reported on. The specific financial goals and

performance objectives at corporate and business unit levels of the STIP are described under "STIP" in the

(5)"CD&A." The amounts reported in this column include amounts deferred under our savings plan. See "Boise

Cascade Company Savings Plan" under "Other Compensation and Benefit Plans" in the "CD&A" in this proxy

statement for a description of this plan.

The total non-equity incentive plan compensation for each Named Executive Officer for 2015, 2014, and 2013 is
comprised of the following:
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2015

Thomas E. Carlile
Thomas K. Corrick
Wayne M. Rancourt
Nick Stokes

Daniel Hutchinson
John T. Sahlberg

2014

Thomas E. Carlile
Thomas K. Corrick
Wayne M. Rancourt
Nick Stokes

John T. Sahlberg

2013
Thomas E. Carlile
Wayne M. Rancourt

John T. Sahlberg
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1/3 2011 LTIP

$126,000
31,500
21,600

1/3 2012 LTIP

$376,000
75,200
88,125
75,200
75,200

1/3 2012 LTIP
$376,000

88,125
75,200

2015 STIP

$102,808
379,038
183,185
310,065
36,216
142,020

2014 STIP

$1,224,000
384,313
336,600
284,591
299,200

2013 STIP
$1,092,000

311,025
239,525

Total

$102,808
379,038
183,185
310,065
36,216
142,020

Total

$1,600,000
459,513
424,725
359,791
374,400

Total
$1,594,000

430,650
336,325
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(6)  Amounts disclosed in this column include the following:

Name Year Change in Nonqualified Deferred
Pension Value® Compensation Earnings®
Thomas E. Carlile 2015 $(38,697 ) $5,463
2014 294,928 8,221
2013 (80,732 ) 9,629
Thomas K. Corrick 2015 (11,469 ) $14,652
2014 265,688 7,002
Wayne M. Rancourt 2015 (25,667 ) $5,940
2014 246,752 4,432
2013 (119,541 ) 5,191
Nick Stokes 2015 (23,332 ) $5,033
2014 253,108 3,756
Daniel Hutchinson 2015 (53,836 )  $14,839
John T. Sahlberg 2015 (67,299 )  $11,076
2014 206,823 12,193
2013 (60,991 ) 7,390

Pension benefits for officers have been frozen since December 31, 2009, and no additional benefits are being
earned. The changes reported in this column reflect the changes in actuarial assumptions that increase or decrease
the present value of their benefits under all pension plans established by the Company using interest rate and
mortality rate assumptions consistent with those used in the Company's financial statements. The 2013 change in
pension value is negative because of an increase in the discount rate assumption and because several officers

(a)worked past their retirement eligibility under one of the pension plans. Years with decreases in the present value of
pension amounts are treated as $0 so only the nonqualified deferred compensation earnings appear in the Summary
Compensation Table. The 2014 changes are positive due to lower discount rates and the 2015 changes are negative
due to a higher discount rate and due to Messrs. Hutchinson, Sahlberg, and Stokes being eligible to retire under one
or more plans. Where the change in pension value is negative, only the amount of the nonqualified deferred
compensation earnings is reported in the column.

(b)The amounts reported in this column reflect the above-market portion of the interest earned on deferred
compensation for our Named Executive Officers.

For more information concerning the pension plans and deferred compensation plans in which our Named Executive

Officers participate, see "Boise Cascade Pension Plan" and "Nonqualified Deferred Compensation" under "Other

Compensation and Benefit Plans" in this proxy statement.
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(7) Amounts disclosed in this column include the following:

Name Year

Thomas E. Carlile 2015
Thomas K. Corrick 2015

Wayne M. Rancourt 2015

Nick Stokes 2015
Daniel Hutchinson 2015
John T. Sahlberg 2015

Company
Contributions
to Savings
Plans®

$95,354
56,099
46,511
40,239
30,191

39,321

Company-Paid
Portion of
Executive
Officer Life
Insurance®
$21

2,034

1,002

12,234

2,034

2,034

Reportable
Perquisites

Tax
Reimbursements,
Gross-Ups, and
Other

See "Boise Cascade Company Savings Plan" under "Other Compensation and Benefit Plans" in "CD&A" in this

(a)

paid to the Named Executive Officer as taxable cash compensation.

proxy statement for a description of this plan. Amounts included in the contributions reported in this column that
exceeded IRS annual limitations on Company contributions to qualified defined contribution retirement plans were

See "Salaried Employee Life Insurance Plan and Officers' Supplemental Life Plan" under "Agreements with
(b)Named Executive Officers" in this proxy statement for a description of the Company-paid life insurance plans
under which these costs were incurred.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table presents information concerning each grant of a non-equity and equity award made to our Named
Executive Officers in 2015 under our STIP and 2013 Incentive Plan.

Named Executive Officer Grant

and Award Type

Thomas E. Carlile
Non-Equity Award ()
Equity Award -
Performance Units
Equity Award -
Restricted Units

Thomas K. Corrick
Non-Equity Award ()
Equity Award -
Performance Units
Equity Award -
Restricted Units

Wayne M. Rancourt
Non-Equity Award ()
Equity Award -
Performance Units @
Equity Award -
Restricted Units

Nick Stokes
Non-Equity Award ()
Equity Award -
Performance Units
Equity Award -
Restricted Units

Daniel Hutchinson
Non-Equity Award ()
Equity Award -
Performance Units
Equity Award -
Restricted Units

Date

2/25/15
2/25/15

2/25/15

2/25/15
2/25/15

2/25/15

2/25/15
2/25/15

2/25/15

2/25/15
2/25/15

2/25/15

2/25/15
2/25/15

2/25/15

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Awards

Threshold
&)

$47,596

175,481

84,808

80,120

67,067

Target
$)

$190,385

250,250 701,923

239,250 339,231

320,481

268,269

Maximum

$)

$428,366

1,579,327

763,270

721,082

603,605

Estimated Future Payouts Grant

Under Equity
Incentive Plan Awards

Threshold'arget Maximum

#) CONNC)
$—  $—  $—
10,368 20,735 41,470
— 20,735 —
3,111 6221 12,442
— 6,221 —
3,111 6221 12,442
— 6,221 —
3,111 6221 12,442
— 6,221 —

Date

Fair
Value

of Stock
or Option
Awards

$ @

$—

749,985

749,985

225,014

225,014

225,014

225,014

225,014

225,014
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John T. Sahlberg

Non-Equity Award ) 2/25/15 65,750 263,000 591,750 — @ — @ — —
Bquity Award - o psis — — 2,765 5529 11,058 199,984
Performance Units (2

Equity Award -

Restriood Unite 2/25/15 — — — — 5529 — 199,984

Reflects the potential threshold, target, and maximum incentive awards for the Named Executive Officers possible
for 2015 under our STIP as described above in "STIP" in this proxy statement. The Named Executive Officers'

(1)actual incentive awards earned in 2015 are disclosed in footnote 5 to the "Non-equity Incentive Plan
Compensation" column of the "Summary Compensation Table." All awards earned under this plan were paid in
February 2016 calculated on the actual base salary earned in 2015.

Reflects the potential total threshold, target, and maximum incentive awards for the Named Executive Officers
possible for 2015 PSUs under the 2013 Incentive Plan. One-third of the total PSUs time-vested on March 1, 2016,
one-third will vest on March 1, 2017, and one-third will vest on March 1, 2018. For further information on the
terms of these incentive awards (which were awarded in 2015), refer to "2013 Incentive Plan" in this proxy
statement. The Named Executive Officers' actual PSU awards earned in 2015 under the 2013 Incentive Plan are
disclosed in footnote 3 to the "Stock Awards" column of the "Summary Compensation Table."

2

The values listed in this column represent the accounting grant date fair value of the target RSUs and the target

(3)PSUS (at $36.17) at the time of award.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table presents information concerning the 2013, 2014, and 2015 awards made to our Named Executive
Officers under the 2013 Incentive Plan that had not vested as of December 31, 2015.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of
Securities Number of Market Value of
. . Underlying Option Option Shares or Units Shares or Units of
S;mg;iu]i);e;;gze Officer Unexercised Exercise PriceExpiration of Stock That ~ Stock That Have
Options % Date Have Not Vested Not Vested
(#) (#) $H®
Unexercisable
Thomas E. Carlile ®)
Thomas K. Corrick
2015 PSUs () — $— — 13,063 $333,498
2015 RSUs @ — — — 20,735 529,365
2014 RSUs @ — — — 1,374 35,078
2014 PSUs ® — — — 1,772 45,239
2013 Options 1,974 27.19 2/26/2023 — —
Wayne M. Rancourt
2015 PSUs () — — — 3,919 100,052
2015 RSUs @ — — — 6,221 158,822
2014 RSUs @ — — — 1,649 42,099
2014 PSUs ® — — — 2,127 54,302
2013 Options 3,290 27.19 2/26/2023 — —
Nick Stokes
2015 PSUs () — — — 3,919 100,052
2015 RSUs @ — — — 6,221 158,822
2014 RSUs @ — — — 1,649 42,099
2014 PSUs ® — — — 2,127 54,302
2013 Options 1,974 27.19 2/26/2023 — —
Daniel Hutchinson
2015 PSUs ) — — — 3,919 100,052
2015 RSUs @ — — — 6,221 158,822
2014 RSUs @ — — — — —
2014 PSUs ® — — — — —
2013 Options 987 27.19 2/26/2023 — —
John T. Sahlberg
2015 PSUs () — — — 3,483 88,921
2015 RSUs @ — — — 5,529 141,155
2014 RSUs @ — — — — —
2014 PSUs ® — — — — —
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2013 Options 2,194 27.19 2/26/2023 — —
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On February 24, 2016, our board of directors awarded our Named Executive Officers the 2015 PSUs listed above
which are presented at the actual earned amount of .63 times target and include the unvested portion of this award.
The first third vested March 1, 2016, a second third will vest on March 1, 2017, and the remaining third will vest
on

March 1, 2018.

ey

On February 27, 2014, our board of directors awarded our Named Executive Officers the 2014 RSUs listed above.
For purposes of this table, 100% of the award was deemed vested for Mr. Sahlberg as of June 22, 2015 and for Mr.
Hutchinson in 2014 based on having reached a retirement-eligible age. For the other Named Executive Officers,

(2)the first third vested on December 31, 2014, the second third vested on December 31, 2015, and the final third
vests on December 31, 2016. In February 2015, our board of directors awarded our Named Executive Officers the
2015 RSUs above. One third vests on March 1, 2016, the second third vests on March 1, 2017, and the final third
vests on March 1, 2018.

On February 27, 2014, our board of directors awarded our Named Executive Officers the 2014 PSUs listed above
which are presented at the actual accrued amount of 1.29 times target and include the unvested portions of this
award. For purposes of this table, the first third was deemed vested on February 25, 2015, the second third vested
on December 31, 2015, and the final third is scheduled to vest on December 31, 2016.

3)

Market value based on the closing price for Boise Cascade Company stock on December 31, 2015, of $25.53 per
share.

“)

(5)Mr. Carlile retired effective March 6, 2015.

Options Exercised and Stock Vested Table

Option Awards Stock Awards
Numl?er of Shares Value Realized Numl?er of Shares Value Realized
Name Acquired on Acquired

on Exercise ($) on Vesting ($)()

Exercise (#) on Vesting (#)
Thomas E. Carlile () 0 0 19,146 $692,511
Thomas K. Corrick (D 0 0 6,155 176,013
Wayne M. Rancourt (D 0 0 7,963 225,927
Nick Stokes (1) 0 0 7,138 204,864
Daniel Hutchinson (U 0 0 2,659 96,176
John T. Sahlberg @ 0 0 9,439 362,641

Calculated using the closing price on the respective vest dates of February 25, 2015 ($36.17) and December 31,
(1)2015 ($25.53).

2
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Calculated using the closing price on the respective vest dates of February 25, 2015 ($36.17) and June 22, 2015
($38.94).

Pension Benefits

Pension benefits for officers are frozen, and no additional benefits are being earned. The following table reflects the
present value of accumulated benefits payable to Messrs. Carlile, Corrick, Rancourt, Stokes, Hutchinson, and
Sahlberg, including the number of years of service credited to each of them under our defined benefit pension plans.
No amounts were distributed to any of them (except Mr. Carlile who retired on March 6, 2015) during 2015 under the
BCPP, the SUPP, or the SERP. Messrs. Carlile, Corrick, Hutchinson, and Sahlberg do not participate in the SERP. For
more information concerning our pension plans, see "Boise Cascade Pension Plan" under "Other Compensation and
Benefit Plans" above in this
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proxy statement.

Number of Years Present Value of
Name Plan Name Credited Service Accumulated Benefit
#HWm ($)@
Thomas E. Carlile SPP 37 $1,949,384
SUPP 37 1,758,814
Thomas K. Corrick SPP 29 1,105,675
SUPP 29 451,860
Wayne M. Rancourt SPP 25 590,129
SUPP 25 180,946
SERP 25 313,029
Nick Stokes SPP 31 915,294
SUPP 31 468,410
SERP 31 380,776
Daniel Hutchinson SPP 29 792,653
SUPP 29 156,755
John T. Sahlberg SPP 27 1,005,979
SUPP 27 187,644

1) Number of years credited service for Messrs. Carlile, Corrick, Rancourt, Stokes, Hutchinson, and Sahlberg

include amounts attributable to employment with OfficeMax prior to the Forest Products Acquisition.
These values were calculated on the same basis and using the same assumptions used in the Company's financial
(2) statements, except that the assumed retirement age for Messrs. Rancourt and Stokes were the later of their current
age or the earliest age at which they could qualify for retirement under the SERP.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

As noted previously, with the Company becoming a "C" corporation in February 2013, the 2004 Deferred
Compensation Plan was reopened for contributions effective January 1, 2014. Earnings on contributions and
preexisting plan balances continued to accrue during 2015 in accordance with the terms of the plan. Mr. Carlile
received a lump sum distribution of $461,293 on October 15, 2015. No other withdrawals or distributions were made
from the plan by any of our Named Executive Officers during 2015. In 2015, contributions to the deferred
compensation plan received from the Company included a 4% base contribution and applicable discretionary
contribution to simulate the base contribution and discretionary contribution in the 401(k) plan. Aggregate earnings
and year-end plan balances for each of our Named Executive Officers are disclosed in the table below:
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Aggregate Earnings Aggregate Balance
Name in Last FY at FYE
$m ($)
Thomas E Carlile $18,033 $—
Thomas K. Corrick 32,597 711,643
Wayne M. Rancourt 13,340 252,296
Nick Stokes 11,305 213,800
Daniel Hutchinson 33,063 704,287
John T. Sahlberg 24,744 505,477

(I)The above-market portion of these amounts is included in the 2015 "Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Earnings" column of the "Summary Compensation Table."

For more information concerning our nonqualified deferred compensation plan, see "Nonqualified Deferred

Compensation" under "Other Compensation and Benefit Plans" above in this proxy statement.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

The following tables reflect an estimate of the compensation the Company would have been required to pay to each of
its Named Executive Officers under the compensation plans, contracts, agreements, and arrangements between each
such individual and the Company for:

Voluntary termination with good reason;

A change in control without adoption of a replacement plan or assumption of the existing obligations;
Involuntary termination without cause;

For-cause termination or voluntary termination without good reason;

Termination as a result of sale of a division; or

Death or disability.

The amounts shown assume that such termination or change in control was effective as of December 31, 2015. The
actual amounts the Company would have been required to pay on other dates may be determined only at the time of
separation from the Company or the change in control and will accordingly vary from those disclosed here, which are
based on a hypothetical December 31, 2015, termination. Our paid vacation is earned on a current basis ratably
throughout each payroll year. Earned and unused amounts at year-end are forfeited to the extent they exceed a
maximum permitted carry-over of 80 hours. The amounts disclosed here do not include amounts earned by the Named
Executive Officer through that time as base salary, any bonuses approved by the Compensation Committee prior to
that date, and payments earned prior to that date as 2015 awards earned pursuant to our STIP because neither their
amount nor the timing of the payment is affected by the fact or the nature of the termination of employment. In
addition, the disclosure does not include amounts payable pursuant to the 401(k), deferred compensation, or pension
plans, which are disclosed elsewhere in this CD&A. Disclosure of amounts earned during 2015 as base salary,
bonuses, and awards under the 2015 STIP may be found in the "Summary Compensation Table." Pension benefits and
deferred compensation arrangements are described in footnote 5 of the "Summary Compensation Table" and under
"Nonqualified Deferred Compensation” of this proxy statement, respectively.
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The availability of severance payments and continued healthcare and insurance benefits beyond termination of
employment is contractually conditioned for each of our Named Executive Officers on their provision to the Company
of a release of claims arising from their employment and the termination thereof and their performance of contractual
confidentiality, non-solicitation, and non-disparagement obligations contained in

68
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their employment or severance agreements with the Company, as well as payment of applicable contributions for
healthcare and insurance benefits. The payments described in the tables and textual materials that follow are provided
by severance agreements and the terms of the 2013 Incentive Plan. For a description of these contractual
arrangements, see "LTIPs (2013 Incentive Plan)" and "Agreements with Named Executive Officers" in CD&A. Mr.
Carlile retired on March 6, 2015 and, therefore, was not eligible to receive any payments.

Thomas K. Corrick

For-Cause

Voluntary Involuntary Termination
Benefit Termination Change in Termination or Voluntary

With Good Control without Termination

Reason Cause Without Good

Reason

Balance - December 31,
2001 16,877,522 1,291,367 — —  (1,189,354) 102,013
Shares issued on
settlement of debt 682,686 218,460 — — — 218,460
Issuance of common
shares 184,000 800,024 — — — 800,024
Exercise of warrants 1,869 1,428 — — — 1,428
Share issue costs — (7,749) — — — (7,749)
Issuance of convertible
debenture — — 90,000 — — 90,000
Amalgamation (1,000,000) — — — — —-
Net loss — — — —  (1,260,472) (1,260,472)
Balance - December 31,
2002 16,746,077 2,303,530 90,000 —  (2,449,826) (56,296)
Issued under private
placement 48,000 31,200 — — — 31,200
Exercise of stock options 300,000 126,600 — — — 126,600
Conversion of debentures 684,648 261,277 (30,882) — — 230,395
Amalgamation (7,378,725) — — — (24,498) (24,498)
Issue of special warrants 5,200,000 3,086,210 — — — 3,086,210
Stock options issued to
non-employees — — — 85,000 — 85,000
Net loss — — — —  (1,383,562) (1,383,562)
Balance - December 31,
2003 15,600,000 5,808,817 85,000 (3,857,886) 2,095,049

Retroactive adjustment
for stock-based
compensation

— 734,773 (734,773) —
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ViRexx Medical Corp.
(a development stage company)
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity...continued

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Common stock

Deficit
Equity Accumulated
component during Total
of Contributed developmentshareholders’
Number Amount debenture surplus stage equity
# $ $ $ $ $
Balance - December 31, 2003
(Restated) 15,600,000 5,808,817 59,118 819,773  (4,592,659) 2,095,049
Issued through public offering 11,000,000 8,800,000 — — — §,800,000
Issued as corporate finance fee 400,000 — — — — —
Exercise of warrants 5,500 5,500 — — — 5,500
Acquisition of AltaRex Medical
Corp. 26,257,759 28,620,957 — — —28,620,957
Exercise of stock options 13,218 15,727 —  (5,153) — 10,574
Share issue costs — (879,688) — — — (879,688)
Fair value of stock options issued
on the acquisition of AltaRex — — — 1,815,378 — 1,815,378
Stock options issued — — — 380,577 — 380,577
Net loss — — — — (3,657,760) (3,657,760)
Balance - December 31, 2004 53,276,477 42,371,313 59,118 3,010,575  (8,250,419) 37,190,587
Repurchase of shares (131,000)  (104,242) — — (78,745)  (182,987)
Exercise of stock options 100,218 119,397 — (36,183) — 83,214
Exercise of warrants 1,347,313 1,135,900 — — — 1,135,900
Share issue costs — (33,025 — — — (33,025
Stock options issued — — — 141,594 — 141,594
Net loss — — — — (1,702,833) (1,702,833)
Balance - March 31, 2005
(Unaudited) 54,593,008 43,489,343 59,118 3,115,986 (10,031,997) 36,632,450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(a development stage company)
Consolidated Statements of Loss

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Revenue

Expenses

Research and
development (note 11)
Corporate
administration
Depreciation and
amortization
Debenture interest
Interest income

(Loss) gain on foreign
exchange

Other income

Gain (loss) on disposal
of property and
equipment

Loss before income
taxes

Income taxes
(recovery)

Net loss

Basic and diluted loss
per common share

Three-month periods

ended
March 31,
2005 2004
$ $
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(Restated -
Note 3)
912,984 192,663
742,360 271,564
692,542 10,249
15,353 15,341
(53,104) —
18,613 412)
2,328,748 489,405
(2,328,748) (489,405)
(625,915) —
(1,702,833) (489,405)
(0.03) (0.03)

2004
$

(Restated -

Note 3)

1,796,680
1,887,711
71,348
61,999
(127,728)
(14,971)
(15,324)
(1,955)

3,657,760

(3,657,760)

(3,657,760)

(0.14)

2003
$

(Restated -

Note 3)

383,073

892,036
31,596
76,052
(7,497)
(4,401)

12,703

1,383,562

(1,383,562)

(1,383,562)

(0.15)

Years ended December 31,

2002
$

271,638
815,934

37,501
39,708

1,361

94,972

1,261,114

(1,261,114)

(642)
(1,260,472)

(0.14)

Cumulative

from

October 30,

2000 to

March 31,

2005
$

(Unaudited)

4,117,726
4,701,542
854,711
193,112
(188,329)
50,738
(15,324)

105,720

9,819,896

(9,819,896)

(625,915)

(9,193,981)
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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ViRexx Medical Corp.
(a development stage company)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Three-month periods ended
March 31,

2005 2004
$ $
(Unaudited)  (Unaudited)
(Restated -
Note 3)
Cash provided by
(used in)

Operating activities
Net loss for the period
Items not affecting
cash:

Debenture interest
Depreciation and
amortization

Future income taxes
Stock-based
compensation

Write off of patent
costs

(Gain) loss on disposal
of property and
equipment

Unrealized foreign
exchange gain (loss)
Net change in non-cash
working capital items
(note 14)

(1,702,833) (489,405

15,353 15,341

692,542
(625,915)

10,249

141,594

2,600

20,145

(1,456,514)
Financing activities
Issuance of share
capital
Amounts due to related
parties
Advances from
shareholder

1,186,089 (52,923

(35,341

)

(856,529)

(1,320,344)

)
)

2004

$
(Restated -
Note 3)

(3,657,760)

54,526

71,348

380,577

242,626

(1,955)

9,471)

(346,104)

(3,266,213)

7,405,027

(35,341)

Years ended December 31,

2003

$
(Restated -
Note 3)

(1,383,562)

76,052

31,596

211,300

12,703

476,659

(575,252)

3,280,210
13,368

575,000

Cumulative

from

October 30,

2000 to

March 31,

2002 2005

$ $

(Unaudited)
(1,260,472)  (9,193,981)

39,708 185,639

37,501 854,711
—  (625,915)

— 733,471

— 242,626

94,972 105,720
— (6,871)

2,945 195,736
(1,085,346)  (7,508,864)
815,000 13,977,852

21,973

— 769,900
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Repayment of advances
from shareholder
Issuance of convertible
debenture

Restricted cash
Repayment of note
payable

Redemption of shares

Investing activities
Acquisition of property
and equipment

Cash acquired on
acquisition

Proceeds on sale of
property and equipment
Expenditures on patents
and trademarks

(Decrease) increase in
cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash
equivalents -
Beginning of period

Cash and cash
equivalents - End of
period

Supplementary
information (note 14)
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— — —  (575,000)
(931) —  (659,000) —
(182,987) — — —
1,002,171 (88,264) 6,710,686 3,293,578
(20,192) (25,512)  (403,364) (94,617)
— — 3,710,419 19,142
— — 2,861 9,210
— — —  (74.824)
(20,192) (25,512) 3,309,916 (141,089)

(474,535) (1,434,120) 6,754,389 2,571,237

9,462,988 2,708,599 2,708,599 131,362

8,988,453 1,274,479 9,462,988 2,708,599

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

(193,307)

685,000

(25,000)

1,303,666

(97,222)

(94,633)

(191,855)

26,465

104,897

131,362

(769,900)

685,000
(659,931)

(182,987)

13,819,934

(796,623)
3,729,561
12,071

(267,626)

2,677,383

8,988,453

8,988,453
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ViRexx Medical Corp.

(a development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Three-month period ended March 31, 2005 (unaudited) and
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(expressed in Canadian dollars)
1 Nature of operations

ViRexx Medical Corp., amalgamated under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta), is a development-stage
biotechnology company that is engaged in the research, development and eventual commercialization of
biopharmaceutical products for the treatment of ovarian cancer, chronic hepatitis B, chronic hepatitis C and selected
solid tumors.

The Company began as Novolytic Corp. on October 30, 2000. ViRexx Research Inc. was incorporated under the
Business Corporations Act (Alberta) on June 6, 2001 and on August 1, 2002 ViRexx Research Inc. amalgamated with
Novolytic Corp. to continue as ViRexx Research Inc. (“ViRexx Research”). On December 23, 2003, ViRexx Research
was amalgamated with ViRexx Medical Corp. and Norac Industries Inc. (“Norac”), as described in note 12, to form and
continue business as ViRexx Medical Corp. (the “Company” or “ViRexx”). Norac was a public company whose shares
were listed on the TSX Venture Exchange and on completion of the amalgamation with Norac, ViRexx became a

listed company.

On December 10, 2004, pursuant to a plan of arrangement, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of
AltaRex Medical Corp. (‘“AltaRex”) by issuing one-half of one common share in exchange for each issued share of
AltaRex. Following the acquisition, the Company became listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Canada which, with respect to the Company, do not differ materially from those applied in the United
States except as disclosed in note 16. Because the precise determination of many assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses is dependent on future events, the preparation of financial statements for a period necessarily includes the
use of estimates and approximations which have been made using careful judgment. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. These financial statements have, in management’s opinion, been properly prepared within reasonable
limits of materiality and within the framework of the accounting policies summarized below.

Interim financial statements and all tabular and other information presented in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements for the periods ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 are unaudited. The accounting principles and methods of
computation used in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the periods ended
March 31, 2005 and 2004 are the same as those of the audited consolidated financial statements for the three years
ended December 31, 2004 except for the change in accounting policy described in note 3. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments considered necessary for the fair presentation of results of the three-month periods ended
March 31, 2005 and 2004 have been reflected in these financial statements, which should be read in conjunction with
the audited annual consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto for the three years ended December 31,
2004.

ey
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ViRexx Medical Corp.

(a development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Three-month period ended March 31, 2005 (unaudited) and
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(expressed in Canadian dollars)
a) Basis of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries.
b) Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to
be cash or cash equivalents.

¢) Revenue

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed
and determinable and collection is reasonably assured.

d) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided using the declining balance method at the
following annual rates:

Laboratory equipment 20%
Office, furniture and equipment 20%
Computer equipment 30%
Computer software 100%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the term of the lease.
e) License

License represents the amount paid for the rights to use certain patents and is recorded at cost. Amortization is
provided for on a straight-line basis over twelve years, being the term of the licensing agreement.

f) Unither agreement
This is the fair value attributed to the Unither development agreement on the acquisition of AltaRex Medical Corp. as
described in note 6. The carrying amount does not necessarily reflect future values and the ultimate amount

recoverable will be dependent upon the successful development and commercialization of products. This amount is
being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated term of the agreement, which is thirteen years.

2)
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ViRexx Medical Corp.

(a development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Three-month period ended March 31, 2005 (unaudited) and
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(expressed in Canadian dollars)
g) Government grants and investment tax credits

Government assistance is recognized when the expenditures that qualify for assistance are made and the Company has
complied with the conditions for the receipt of government assistance. Government assistance is applied to reduce the
carrying amount of any assets acquired or to reduce eligible expenses incurred. A liability to repay government
assistance, if any, is recorded in the period when the conditions arise that cause the assistance to become repayable.
Government assistance recognized to date relates to federal government programs that provide refundable credits for
qualifying scientific research and development expenditures and other grants as described in note 10.

h) Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed in the period incurred. Development costs are expensed in the period incurred unless
technical and market viability of a development project has been established. No development costs have been
deferred to date.

i) Foreign currency translation

Translation of transactions arising in foreign currencies has been recorded at approximate rates of exchange in effect
at the dates of the transactions, with resulting monetary assets and monetary liabilities arising in foreign currencies
being translated at rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses on translation during the period
have been included in net loss for the year.

j) Income taxes

The Company follows the liability method of income tax allocation. Under this method, future income taxes are
recognized for the future income tax consequences attributable to differences between the carrying values of assets
and liabilities and their respective income tax basis. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured using
substantively enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on future income tax assets and liabilities of a change in
rates is included in earnings in the period that includes the date of substantial enactment. Future income tax assets are
recorded in the financial statements if realization is considered more likely than not.

3)
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ViRexx Medical Corp.

(a development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Three-month period ended March 31, 2005 (unaudited) and
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(expressed in Canadian dollars)
k) Stock-based compensation

The Company grants stock options to executive officers, directors, employees and consultants pursuant to a stock
option plan. Effective January 1, 2004, awards of stock options granted to employees are accounted for in accordance
with the fair value method and result in compensation expense. The expense is recognized in income over the service
period of the employee to whom the option was granted or the vesting period of the specific option. The
corresponding credit is charged to contributed surplus. Any consideration paid on the exercise of stock options is
credited to share capital. Previously, the Company did not record any compensation expense upon the issuance of
stock options to employees. Awards of stock options to non-employees are accounted for in accordance with the fair
value method and result in compensation expense.

1) Impairment of long-lived assets

Property and equipment and intangible assets with a finite life are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment is assessed
by comparing the carrying amount of the asset with its expected future net undiscounted cash flows from use together
with its residual value. If an asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount by which the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

m) Loss per share

The Company uses the treasury stock method to calculate loss per common share. Under this method, the basic loss
per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period.
Diluted loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares and includes the effects of
dilutive convertible securities including convertible debentures, options and warrants.

3 Accounting changes

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company became subject to additional requirements of Section 3870 of the CICA
Handbook with respect to accounting and disclosure for stock-based compensation. As such, new awards of stock
options granted to employees made on or after January 1, 2004 are accounted for in accordance with the fair value
method and result in compensation expense. The expense is recognized in income over the service period of the
employee to whom the option was granted or the vesting period of the specific option. Any consideration paid on the
exercise of stock options is credited to share capital. Previously, the Company did not record any compensation
expense upon the issuance of stock options to employees. This change in recording the fair value of awards has been
accounted for on a retroactive basis without restatement of prior periods. For awards granted after January 1, 2002 and
prior to January 1, 2004, the Company has increased the opening deficit and contributed surplus by $734,773.

“)
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ViRexx Medical Corp.

(a development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Three-month period ended March 31, 2005 (unaudited) and
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

The acquisition of AltaRex, as described in note 6, was originally treated as the acquisition of a business and
accounted for in accordance with CICA 1581 Business Combinations. It was subsequently determined that AltaRex
did not meet the definition of a business as described in EIC 124 and therefore should have been accounted for as a
purchase of assets. Financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 have been restated to reflect this
treatment. The impact of this restatement is a $7,282,832 increase in acquired intellectual property rights; a
$6,065,718 decrease in goodwill; a $684,229 increase in future income taxes payable; a $568,859 increase in share
capital and a $35,974 decrease in convertible debentures payable at December 31, 2004.

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company wrote off the carrying value of capitalized costs incurred on patents and
trademarks to reflect the uncertainty associated with any future economic benefit. This was accounted for retroactively
and the prior year’s financial statements were restated. As this did not represent a change in accounting policy, the total
impact of the write down should have been reflected in the year ended December 31, 2004. The financial statements
have been restated to reflect this treatment. The impact of this restatement is a $242,626 increase in the net loss
previously reported for the year ended December 31, 2004; a $167,802 decrease in the deficit previously reported as

of January 1, 2003; and, a $74,824 decrease in the previously reported 2003 net loss.

4 Income taxes

The reconciliation of income taxes (recovery) attributable to operations using the statutory tax rate is as follows:

December December

March 31, March 31, December 31, 31, 31,
2005 2004 2004 2003 2002

$ $ $ $ $

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Restated) (Restated)
Canadian statutory rates 33.62% 36.12% 33.87% 36.74% 17.77%

Expected recovery at the statutory

rate (782,925) (176,773) (1,239,000) (508,000) (224,000)
Unrecognized deductible

temporary differences and tax

losses 100,010 176,773 1,109,000 429,000 222,358
Stock-based compensation and

other non-deductible expenses 57,000 — 130,000 79,000 1,000
Total income taxes (625,915) — — — (642)
(%)
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ViRexx Medical Corp.

(a development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Three-month period ended March 31, 2005 (unaudited) and
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

Significant components of the Company’s future tax balances are as follows:

Future tax assets

Non-capital loss carry forwards

Research and development deductions and investment
tax credits

Other assets

Future tax liabilities
Acquired intellectual property
Valuation allowance

Net future tax liability

March 31,
2005
$

(Unaudited)
1,772,798

1,444,491
425,589

3,642,878

(9,766,910)

(6,124,032)

December 31,
2004
$

(Restated)
1,577,315

1,244,976
420,599

3,242,890

(9,992,837)

(6,749,947)

December 31,
2003
$

(Restated)
536,251

257,046
283,572

1,076,869

(1,076,869)

At December 31, 2004, the Company had $4,691,597 of non-capital loss carry forwards; $2,667,119 of scientific
research and experimental development (“SR&ED”) expenditures; and, $601,113 of investment tax credits available to
reduce taxable income in future years. The benefit of these losses, SR&ED expenditures and investment tax credits

has been recognized as a reduction of future income tax liabilities as their realization is considered more likely than
not through the use of feasible tax planning strategies. SR&ED expenditures may be carried forward indefinitely. Loss

carry forwards and investment tax credits expire as follows:

2007
2008
2009
2010
2012
2013
2014

Non-capital
loss carry
forwards

$

138,101
234,160
399,890
820,624

3,098,822

4,691,597

Investment
tax credits

$

9,767
767
2,315
28,127
560,137

601,113

122



Edgar Filing: BOISE CASCADE Co - Form PRE 14A

(6)

123



Edgar Filing: BOISE CASCADE Co - Form PRE 14A

ViRexx Medical Corp.

(a development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Three-month period ended March 31, 2005 (unaudited) and
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(expressed in Canadian dollars)

5 Property and equipment

March 31, 2005
(Unaudited)

Accumulated
Cost depreciation Net
$ $ $
Laboratory equipment 467,993 92,629 375,364
Office furniture and equipment 64,124 15,953 48,171
Computer equipment and software 113,764 45,672 68,092
Leasehold improvements 36,468 2,229 34,239
682,349 156,483 525,866

Depreciation expense relating to property and equipment charged to current operations was $27,528 for the period
ended March 31, 2005 and $10,249 for the period ended March 31, 2004.

December 31, 2004

Accumulated
Cost depreciation Net
$ $ $
Laboratory equipment 465,394 76,090 389,304
Office furniture and equipment 64,124 13,210 50,914
Computer equipment and software 98,297 38,787 59,510
Leasehold improvements 34,343 869 33,474
662,158 128,956 533,202
December 31, 2003

Accumulated
Cost depreciation Net
$ $ $
Laboratory equipment 175,238 29,545 145,693
Office furniture and equipment 15,285 4,765 10,520
Computer equipment 30,366 12,779 17,587
220,889 47,089 173,800

Depreciation expense relating to property and equipment charged to operations was $69,264 (2003 - $29,513).
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ViRexx Medical Corp.

(a development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Three-month period ended March 31, 2005 (unaudited) and
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(expressed in Canadian dollars)
6 Acquired intellectual property

March 31, December 31, December 31,

2005 2004 2003
$ $ $
(Unaudited)
Unither development agreement - net of accumulated
amortization $664,494 (2004 - $nil) 33,889,172 34,553,666 —
Other licenses - net of accumulated amortization of
$8,504 (2004 - $7,984; 2003 - $5,900) 16,496 17,016 19,100
33,905,668 34,570,682 19,100

Amortization expense relating to intellectual property charged to operations was $665,014 for the period ended March
31, 2005 (unaudited) (December 31, 2004 - $2,084; December 31, 2003 - $2,083).

On December 10, 2004, the Company acquired certain intellectual property and related agreements. These assets
resided in AltaRex, a holding company with no active business. The Company completed the acquisition by issuing
26,257,759 common shares in exchange for all of the issued and outstanding shares of AltaRex. The assets consisted
primarily of an Exclusive Agreement with Unither Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Unither”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
United Therapeutics Corporation (“United Therapeutics”), for the development of five monoclonal antibodies, including
OvaRex® MAD, the Company’s lead product in late stage development for the treatment of ovarian cancer. Under the
terms of the agreement, Unither received exclusive rights for development and commercialization of the products
worldwide, with the exception of rights retained by the Company to the majority of the European Union and certain
other countries. Unither is responsible for the costs of clinical trials, manufacturing and other development expenses

for each product and will pay development milestone payments and royalties from product sales to the Company.

Consideration was 26,257,759 ViRexx common shares with a fair value of $28,620,957 based on $1.09 per share,
which was the market price per share at the date of announcement on October 15, 2004. The acquisition price also
includes $1,815,378 relating to the fair value of new ViRexx stock options issued in exchange for AltaRex stock
options and acquisition costs of $568,859.

Pursuant to an independent valuation, the Unither agreement and the intellectual property acquired was valued at
$34,553,666. Other net assets, which consisted of cash, equipment and a debenture payable, amounted to $3,201,475.
The Company also recorded a future income tax liability of $6,749,947, net of future tax assets in the amount of
$3,242,890, which were recognized at the date of acquisition.

®)
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ViRexx Medical Corp.

(a development stage company)
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(expressed in Canadian dollars)

The Company is a party to other license and development agreements with various third parties. In each case, the third
party may be entitled to receive any one or a combination of milestone payments, royalty payments and stock options
based on the product development stage or sales revenue from the development of certain products or technology. The

Company has not made any payments under these agreements and has no liability for payments or the issue of shares
or options at March 31, 2005 (unaudited), December 31, 2004 or December 31, 2003.

7 Related party transactions and balances
The balance due as at December 31, 2003 in the amount of $35,341 related to interest accrued at 18% on amounts
advanced in 2003 to the Company by a shareholder.
8 Convertible debentures

March 31, December 31, December 31,

2005 2004 2003
$ $ $
(Unaudited)

U.S. dollar convertible debenture 512,198 502,215 -

Canadian dollar convertible debentures 450,000 450,000 450,000
Equity component of convertible debentures (59,118) (59,118) (59,118)

Unpaid interest 144,009 144,009 89,483

1,047,089 1,037,106 480,365

United States dollar convertible debenture

On August 15, 2002, AltaRex issued a convertible debenture to United Therapeutics in exchange for proceeds of
US$433,310. On the acquisition of AltaRex, this debenture was determined to have a fair value of $511,687
(US$417,261). OvaRex patents and technology have been pledged as collateral for the debenture. Interest is payable
on the debenture quarterly and accrues at 6% per annum. Principal and unpaid interest on the debenture is due in full
on August 23, 2005. The debenture is convertible into common shares of the Company at a price of US$1.00 per share
at any time at the option of United Therapeutics. As at March 31, 2005, the carrying amount of the convertible
debenture reflecting current exchange rates is $512,198 (unaudited) (December 31, 2004 - $502,215).

€))
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Canadian dollar convertible debentures

On September 20, 2002, the Company issued convertible debentures in the amount of $685,000 bearing interest at
12% per annum, accrued monthly, payable September 20, 2005. A specific charge and interest against the T-ACT
Technology patents was pledged as collateral for the debentures. The convertible debentures were accounted for in
accordance with their substance and presented in the financial statements in their component parts, measured at their
respective fair values at the time of issue. The debt component was calculated as the present value of the required
interest and principal payments discounted at a rate approximating the interest rate that would have been applicable to
non-convertible debt at the time the debentures were issued. The difference between the debt component and the face
value of the debentures, representing the value of the conversion feature and options, was classified as equity.

The debentures are convertible, at the option of the holder, into common shares of the Company at a conversion price
of $0.50 per common share or at half of an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) or Qualifying Transaction (“QT”) share issue
price if such price is less than $0.95 at any time prior to September 20, 2005.

The Company has the right to compel conversion into common shares if the Company is in full satisfaction of its
obligations under the agreement during a period commencing from the day the Company publicly announces its
intentions to complete an PO or QT and ending on the day such IPO or QT is formally approved by the shareholders
of the Company. The Company announced such a transaction at approximately $0.80 per share in June 2003 and it
was approved by the shareholders on December 22, 2003.

On August 6, 2003, a director, officer and significant shareholder of the Company converted $175,000 principal
amount of the convertible debentures plus accrued interest of $17,333 into 521,233 ViRexx Research shares on the
following conversion basis. The principal amount of $175,000 was converted at $0.369 per ViRexx Research share for
a total of 480,160 ViRexx Research shares and accrued interest of $17,333 was converted at $0.422 per ViRexx
Research share for a total of 41,073 ViRexx Research shares.

On December 23, 2003, an additional principal amount of $60,000 plus accrued interest of $8,944 was converted at
$0.422 per ViRexx Research share for a total of 163,415 ViRexx Research shares.

In January 2004, the Company made a formal offer to redeem the remaining debentures and has deposited $659,931
into trust to satisfy redemption requirements and related costs. As a result, the debentures were classified as a current
liability commencing December 31, 2003. The funds have not yet been accepted by the holders and the remaining
debentures are outstanding at March 31, 2005.

(10)
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9 Commitments

Expected minimum lease payments in each of the next five years and in total, relating to the office and laboratory
facility, are as follows:

$

2005 109,263
2006 109,263
2007 113,126
2008 115,885
2009 115,885
Thereafter 164,170
727,592

10 Government assistance and research and development projects

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company received a non-repayable grant in the amount of $364,430
(2003 - $154,780; 2002 - $80,750) from the National Research Council of Canada, of which $nil remained receivable
at March 31, 2005 (unaudited) (December 31, 2004 - $nil; December 31, 2003 - $52,082).

In 2004, the Company entered into a technology commercialization agreement with Alberta Heritage Foundation for
Medical Research (“AHFMR”) in support of costs for the Phase I liver cancer study for the Occlusi Injection
product. Funding of $500,000 was received and credited against research and development expenses in the year ended
December 31, 2004. The Company is required to pay a royalty equivalent to twice the amount of funding received,
from the commercial success of the resulting products and technology, at a rate of the lesser of 5% of gross sales or
$100,000 per annum. The maximum total payments by the Company under this agreement are $1,000,000 and will
begin once there are commercial sales.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company accrued a refund in the amount of $451,475 (2002 -
$386,414) related to a federal tax credit for Scientific Research and Experimental Development expenditures incurred
during that year.

In 1997, AltaRex entered into an agreement with the AHFMR to jointly fund clinical trials, with AltaRex controlling,
through ownership or licensing, all of the Technology. Funding of $500,000 was received in 1997. The Company is
required to pay a royalty equivalent to twice the amount of funding received, from the commercial success of the
resulting products and technology, at a rate of the lesser of 5% of gross sales or $100,000 per annum. The maximum
total payments by the Company under this agreement are $1,000,000 and will begin once there are commercial sales.

Amounts received related to government assistance were recorded as a reduction of research and development
expense.
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11 Research and development projects

The Company is in the development stage and conducts research and development in the areas of biopharmaceutical
products for the treatment of ovarian cancer, chronic hepatitis B, chronic hepatitis C and selected solid tumours.

- OvaRex® MAD is a murine monoclonal antibody that has a high degree of specificity to a tumour associated antigen
that is over-expressed by the majority of late stage ovarian cancer patients. The Company believes that the product
acts as a immunotherapeutic agent by inducing and/or amplifying the human body’s immune response against
ovarian cancer. All development costs for OvaRex® MADb are borne by United Therapeutics pursuant to the license
agreement described in note 6.

- The Company’s T-ACT™ technology platform is a novel and proprietary targeted tumor starvation technology
platform which has the potential to produce a wide range of products that stop the flow of blood to solid tumors,
both malignant (cancer) and non-malignant (benign).

- The Chimigen™ technology platform encompasses a molecular design recognizable by the body’s immune system to
break tolerance by mounting a humoral (antibody) as well as a highly desirable cellular response to clear the virus

that is responsible for the chronic infection.

Three-month periods ended

March 31, Years ended December 31,

2005 2004 2004 2003 2002

$ $ $ $ $

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
T-ACT™ 358,996 113,839 410,018 426,024 367,534
Chimigen™ 553,988 340,349 2,251,092 563,304 371,268
Gross research and development 912,984 454,188 2,661,110 989,328 738,802
Government grants — (261,525) (864,430) (154,780) (80,750)
Tax credits — — — (451,475) (386,414)
Net research and development 912,984 192,663 1,796,680 383,073 271,638
(12)
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12 Share capital
Authorized share capital
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of no par value common shares.
Normal Course Issuer Bid

On December 21, 2004, the Company received approval for a Normal Course Issuer Bid allowing the Company to
repurchase up to 2,663,824 common shares during the period beginning December 23, 2004 to December 22, 2005, at
the market price at the time of purchase. The Company repurchased 131,000 common shares at an average price of
$1.40 per share for the period January 1, 2005 to March 31, 2005, which resulted in a charge of $104,242 to share
capital and a charge of $78,745 to the deficit (unaudited).

2004 Transactions

On April 14, 2004, the Company completed a public offering of 11,000,000 units at a price of $0.80 per unit for gross
proceeds of $8,800,000. Each unit consisted of one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each
whole warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $1.00 per share
until October 14, 2005. The agent for the offering, Canaccord Capital Corp. (“Canaccord”) received cash of 7.75% of
the gross proceeds, 400,000 common shares and 1,100,000 agent warrants as a commission. Each agent warrant
entitles Canaccord to acquire one common share of ViRexx for $0.80 per share until April 14, 2005.

In 2004, the Company issued 5,500 common shares on the exercise of warrants for proceeds of $5,500.

On December 10, 2004, the Company issued 26,257,759 common shares in exchange for all of the outstanding shares
of AltaRex as described in note 6. Sixty percent of the common shares issued to AltaRex shareholders are freely
tradable and the remaining forty percent are subject to a hold period until June 10, 2005.

2003 Transactions

On March 27, 2003, the Company completed a Private Placement of 48,000 common shares for gross proceeds of
$31,200.

On August 6, 2003 and December 23, 2003, a total of 684,648 common shares were issued on the conversion of
debentures as described in note 8.

On December 23, 2003, the Company issued 9,400,000 shares in exchange for the 17,778,725 outstanding shares of
ViRexx Research Inc., a company subject to common control and 1,000,000 shares in exchange for all of the
outstanding shares of Norac Industries Inc. (“Norac”), an unrelated inactive public company with no operations. The
companies were amalgamated and considered to be a continuation of ViRexx Research Inc.
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The net liabilities of Norac in the amount of $24,498 were treated as a charge to the deficit of ViRexx at book value,
which approximated fair value.

On December 31, 2003, ViRexx completed a private placement of 5,000,000 special warrants at a price of $0.80 per
unit for net proceeds of $2,926,210 after related issue expenses of $1,073,790. Upon exercise, each special warrant
entitled the holder to receive one common share and one common share purchase warrant (the “warrant”). Each warrant
entitled the holder to acquire one common share at an exercise price of $1.00 per share for a period of 18 months. In
connection with this transaction, ViRexx issued 200,000 common shares to the agent as payment for costs of

$160,000.

Stock options
The Company’s Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) provides for the granting of stock options to directors, officers,
employees and consultants. On December 9, 2004, the Company’s shareholders approved the Plan that permits the

issuance of stock options to purchase a maximum of 6,500,000 common shares of the Company.

The following table summarizes information relating to stock options outstanding and exercisable under the Plan at
March 31, 2005, December 31, 2004 and 2003.

March 31, 2005
(Unaudited) December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
Stock Exercise Stock Exercise Stock Exercise
options price options price options price
# $ # $ # $
Outstanding - Beginning
of period 6,369,168 0.84 2,103,218 0.80 685,000 0.50
Granted — — 4,564,168 0.85 2,403,218 0.70
Exercised (100,218) 0.83 (13,218) 0.80 (300,000) 0.001
Expired — —  (285,000) 0.80 (685,000) 0.50
Outstanding -
End of period 6,268,950 0.84 6,369,168 0.84 2,103,218 0.80
Exercisable -
End of period 5,021,750 0.83 5,121,968 0.83 2,103,218 0.80

On February 1, 2005, the Company granted 300,000 stock options as an inducement to an individual to join the
Company as an officer. The options are exercisable at $1.17 per share and expire on February 1, 2015. These options
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were not issued under the Plan. One-third of these options vested immediately and the remaining options will vest
over a period of two years. Compensation expense arising from the options is recognized over the vesting period.The
following table summarizes information relating to currently outstanding and exercisable options:

(14)
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Exercise
price

$

0.48
0.76
0.80
0.86
0.90
0.94
3.90
6.26
11.20
11.92
26.40
29.44

Exercise
price

$

0.48
0.76
0.80
0.86
0.90
0.94
1.03
3.90

Number of

shares
#

1,675,000
50,000
2,983,000
575,000
697,200
240,000
10,000
10,000
3,125
12,500
625
12,500

6,268,950

Number of

shares
#

1,675,000
50,000
3,070,000
575,000
697,200
240,000
13,218
10,000

Outstanding

Average
expiration
life
(years)

8.13
8.30
3.46
5.91
9.71
4.97
6.03
6.15
3.30
4.88
2.60
2.27

QOutstanding

Average
expiration
life
(years)

8.38
7.55
3.71
6.16
9.96
5.22
0.33
6.28

March 31, 2005
(Unaudited)

Exercisable

Number of
shares
#

1,675,000
50,000
2,378,000
575,000
205,000
90,000
10,000
10,000
3,125
12,500
625
12,500

5,021,750
December 31, 2004

Exercisable

Number of
shares
#

1,675,000
50,000
2,465,000
575,000
205,000
90,000
13,218
10,000
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6.26
11.20
11.92
26.40
29.44

10,000
3,125
12,500
625
12,500

6,369,168

6.40
3.55
5.13
2.85
2.52

10,000
3,125
12,500
625
12,500

5,121,968

(15)
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December 31, 2003
QOutstanding Exercisable
Average
Exercise Number of expiration Number of
price shares life shares
$ # (years) #
0.80 2,103,218 4.71 2,103,218

At March 31, 2005, the 6,268,950 options outstanding had a weighted average remaining term of approximately six
years (unaudited).

Stock-based compensation expense

During the period ended March 31, 2005, the Company recognized $141,594 of compensation expense and
contributed surplus (unaudited). During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recognized $380,577 of
compensation expense and contributed surplus. For awards granted after January 1, 2002 and prior to January 1, 2004,
the Company made an adjustment to the opening deficit and contributed surplus of $734,773 (see note 3).

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model based on the following:

March 31,

2005 December 31, December 31,

(Unaudited) 2004 2003

Expected life 7 years 5 years 5 years
Risk-free rate 3.74% 4.0% 3.9%
Expected volatility 80.60% 77.2% 51.0%
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

$ $ $

Weighted average fair value of options issued 0.88 0.54 0.39

Warrants

At March 31, 2005 there were 11,195,782 (unaudited) (December 31, 2004 - 12,543,094; December 31, 2003 -
5,500,000) warrants outstanding at a weighted average exercise price of $1.10 (unaudited) (December 31, 2004 -
$1.06; December 31, 2003 - $0.98). The value attributed to the warrants is included in share capital.
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Expiry date

April 14, 2005
June 23, 2005

July 7, 2005
October 14, 2005
November 26, 2006

Expiry date

April 14, 2005
June 23, 2005

July 7, 2005
October 14, 2005
November 26, 2006

Expiry date

June 23, 2005
July 7, 2005

a7)

Exercise
price

$

0.80
0.80
1.00
1.00
4.00

Exercise
price

$

0.80
0.80
1.00
1.00
4.00

Exercise
price

$

0.80
1.00

Opening
#

1,100,000
500,000
5,086,595
5,496,500
360,000

12,543,095

Opening
#

500,000
5,000,000

5,500,000

Opening
#

Granted
#

Exercised
#

(732,063)
(325,000)
(150,500)
(139,750)

(1,347,313)

Granted Exercised

#

1,100,000

318,595
5,500,000
360,000

7,278,595

Granted
#

500,000
5,000,000

5,500,000

#

2,000
3,500

5,500

Exercised
#

March 31, 2005

Cancelled
#

(Unaudited)

Closing
#

367,937
175,000
4,936,095
5,356,750
360,000

11,195,782

December 31, 2004

Cancelled
#

230,000

230,000

Closing
#

1,100,000
500,000
5,086,595
5,496,500
360,000

12,543,095

December 31, 2003

Cancelled
#

Closing
#

500,000
5,000,000

5,500,000
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Loss attributable to common
shareholders

Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding

Basic and diluted loss per share

13 Loss per share

Three-month

period ended
March 31,
2005 2004
$ $
(Unaudited) (Restated)
(1,702,833) (3,657,760)
# #
53,745,499 25,268,388
$ $
(0.03) (0.14)

Years ended December 31,

2003 2002
$ $
(Restated)
(1,383,562) (1,260,472)
# #
9,128,866 8,762,781
$ $
(0.15) (0.14)

Common shares that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were not included in the
computation of dilutive earnings per share for the three months ended March 31, 2005 because to do so would be
anti-dilutive amounted to 18,492,051 (December 31, 2004 - 19,939,582; December 31, 2003 - 8,142,701; December

31,2002 - 1,409,708).

(18)
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14 Supplementary cash flow information

Three-month periods ended

March 31, Years ended December 31,
2005 2004 2004 2003 2002
$ $ $ $ $
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Accounts receivable 18,431 52,082 42,471 (13,460) (37,437)
Goods and services tax recoverable 53,427 3,672 (17,422) (27,784) 16,685
Investment tax credits recoverable — — 447,013 (79,659) (17,744)
Prepaid expenses and deposits 85,699 2,125 (337,114) 1,756 (6,383)
Income taxes recoverable — — — 8,436 (8,436)
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities (137,412) (914,408) (481,052) 587,370 56,902
Income taxes payable — — — — (642)
20,145 (856,529) (346,104) 476,659 2,945
Three-month periods
ended
March 31, Years ended December 31,
2005 2004 2004 2003 2002
$ $ $ $ $

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Income taxes paid — — — — —

Interest paid — — 3,667 — —
Interest received 53,104 — 127,728 7,497 —
(19)
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15 Financial instruments

Financial instruments of the Company consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, goods and services tax
recoverable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair value of these instruments approximates their
carrying amount due to their immediate or short-term maturity. The fair value of the liability for convertible
debentures is considered to approximate their carrying amount because of the Company’s right to redeem the
debentures at the carrying amount.

Credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist
principally of cash and cash equivalents. The Company has investment policies to mitigate against the deterioration of
principal, to enhance the Company’s ability to meet its liquidity needs and to optimize yields within those parameters.
Cash and equivalents are on deposit with a Canadian chartered bank.

Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk arising from fluctuations in interest rates on its cash and cash equivalents
as defined in note 2. The Company does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk.

Currency risk

The Company operates primarily within Canada and, therefore, is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk. The
Company has not entered into foreign exchange derivative contracts.

(20)
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16 United States Accounting principles

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). These principles differ, as they affect the Company, for the three months
ended March 31, 2005 and the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 in the following material respects
from U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”).

Consolidated balance sheets - U.S. GAAP

Assets
Current assets
Property and equipment

Total assets

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Other long-term liabilities
Convertible debentures
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock
Contributed surplus
Deficit accumulated during development stage
Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

2y

March 31,
2005

$
(Unaudited)

9,987,400
525,866
10,513,266
$

615,363

1,106,207
1,721,570
43,489,343
3,115,986
(37,813,633)

8,791,696

10,513,266

December 31,

2004
$

10,618,561
533,202

11,151,763
$

744,805

1,096,224

1,841,029
42,371,313

3,047,085
(36,107,664)

9,310,734

11,151,763

December 31,

2003
$

3,306,383
173,800

3,480,183
$

1,131,154
35,341
539,483
1,705,978
5,808,817
856,283
(4,890,895)

1,774,205

3,480,183
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Consolidated and statements of operations - U.S. GAAP

Three-month

period ended
March 31, Years ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002
$ $ $ $
Net loss in accordance with Canadian
GAAP (1,702,833) (3,657,760) (1,383,562) (1,260,472)
Adjustments to reconcile to U.S.
GAAP
Acquired intellectual property rights — (34,553,666) — —
Acquired intellectual rights
amortization 665,014 2,084 2,083 2,081
Future income taxes (625,915) 6,749,947 — —
Stock-based compensation — — (734,773) (36,510)
Net loss and comprehensive loss in
accordance with U.S. GAAP (1,663,734) (31,459,395) (2,116,252) (1,294,901)
$ $ $
Net loss per share of common stock -
basic and diluted (0.03) (1.25) (0.23) (0.15)
# # # #
Weighted-average number of shares
of common stock outstanding - basic
and diluted 53,745,499 25,268,388 9,128,866 8,762,781

The significant differences in accounting principles as they pertain to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements are as follows:

Acquired intellectual property rights

Canadian GAAP requires the capitalization and amortization of the costs of acquired technology. Under U.S. GAAP,
the cost of acquiring technology is charged to expense as in-process research and development (“IPRD”’) when incurred
if the feasibility of such technology has not been established and no future alternative use exists. This difference
increases the loss from operations under U.S. GAAP in the year the IPRD is acquired and reduces the loss under U.S.
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GAAP in subsequent periods because there is no amortization charge.

(22)
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Under Canadian GAAP, a future tax liability is also recorded upon acquisition of the technology to reflect the tax
effect of the difference between the carrying amount of the technology in the financial statements and the tax basis of
these assets. As the intellectual property is amortized, the future tax liability is also reduced to reflect the change in
this temporary difference between the tax and accounting values of the assets. Under U.S. GAAP, because the
technology is expensed immediately as IPRD, there is no difference between the tax basis and the financial statement
carrying value of the assets and therefore no future tax liability exists.

Under U.S. GAAP, the acquired intellectual property is considered IPRD in accordance with FAS 2 - “Accounting for
Research and Development Costs” (“FAS 2”). Given the Company’s development and patent strategy surrounding the
compounds, the acquired intellectual property does not meet the criteria for alternative use as outlined in FAS 2. As a
result, the amounts were expensed as IPRD.

Convertible debentures

Under Canadian GAAP, the proceeds from the issue of convertible notes and warrants are split into their relative
component parts: debt; the option to convert the debt; and, the detachable warrants. Under U.S. GAAP, these
instruments are split between the debt and detachable warrant components.

Under Canadian GAAP, $59,118 of the Canadian dollar convertible debentures are presented as equity. Under U.S.
GAAP, all of the Canadian dollar convertible debentures are recorded as a liability. Accordingly, the debt and equity
portion of the Canadian dollar convertible debentures in the amount of $594,009 at March 31, 2005 (unaudited)
(December 31, 2004 - $594,009; December 31, 2003 - $539,483) is shown as a liability under U.S. GAAP.

Stock-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2004, for Canadian GAAP purposes, the Company adopted the fair value based method of
accounting for employee stock options granted on or after January 1, 2002, retroactively without restatement as
allowed under the transitional provisions of CICA Handbook Section 3870. As a result, the opening balances of the
deficit and contributed surplus were increased by $734,773 at January 1, 2004. During 2004, the Company recorded
stock compensation expense of $380,577 in the consolidated statement of operations.

For U.S. GAAP, the Company has applied FAS 123 as of January 1, 2004 using the retroactive restatement transition
provisions of SFAS No. 123, which requires the restatement of all periods presented for options granted, modified or

settled in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1994.

(23)
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Comprehensive income

Under U.S. GAAP, SFAS No. 130 requires that companies report comprehensive income as a measure of overall
performance. Comprehensive income includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from
investments by owners and distributions to owners. There is no concept similar to comprehensive income under
current Canadian GAAP.

Current accounting pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of No. 123R (“FAS123R”), Share-Based Payment (which supercedes
Statements No. 123 and 95) that addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions in which an enterprise
receives employee services in exchange for (a) equity instruments of the enterprise, or (b) liabilities that are based on
the fair value of the enterprise’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of such equity instruments.
The new standard eliminates the ability to account for share-based compensation transactions using APB Opinion No.
25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and instead requires that such transactions be accounted for suing a
fair value based method. The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005, meaning that
an entity must apply the guidance to all employee awards of share-based payment granted, modified, or settled in any
annual period beginning after June 15, 2005. The cumulative effect of initially applying this standard, if any, must be
recognized as of the required effective date. The Company adopted FAS 123 as of January 1, 2004 and, as disclosed in
note 3, the Company adopted Section 3870 of the CICA Handbook on the same date. The Company is currently
assessing the impact of FAS123R.

In April 2005, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) issued new accounting standards for the
recognition, measurement and disclosure of financial instruments, hedges and comprehensive income. The new
requirements are all to be applied at the same time and are effective for interim and annual financial statements
relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2006. Earlier adoption is permitted commencing as of the
beginning of a fiscal year ending on or after December 31, 2004. The Company is currently assessing the impact of
these new standards.

(24)
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